# A longitudinal study of dental erosion and associated lifestyle factors in a group of Swedish

Agneta Hasselkvist



Thesis for the degree of philosophiae doctor (PhD) at the University of Bergen

2017

Date of defence: 15th of December

### © Copyright Agneta Hasselkvist

The material in this publication is protected by copyright law.

Year:	2017
Title:	A longitudinal study of dental erosion and associated lifestyle factors in a group of Swedish children and adolescents
Author:	Agneta Hasselkvist

Print: AiT Bjerch AS / University of Bergen

# Scientific environment

The work of this thesis was carried out between April 2012 and August 2017 at the Department of Clinical Dentistry – Cariology, Faculty of Medicine, University of Bergen, Bergen, Norway. Clinical data were collected at the Public Dental Service in Nora and Storå, County Council of Örebro / Region Örebro County, Sweden. The main supervisor was Professor Ann-Katrin Johansson, and co-supervisor was Professor Anders Johansson, both from the University of Bergen, Norway.

The work was supported by the Department of Clinical Dentistry, Faculty of Medicine, University of Bergen, Bergen, Norway, the Dental Research Committee, Public Dental Service, Region Örebro County, Örebro, the Research Committee of Region Örebro County, Örebro and the Swedish Dental Society, Sweden.

## Acknowledgements

I owe my deepest gratitude to everyone who have contributed to this work, including all the patients and parents who accepted to participate in the study. But there are three people in particular who have been invaluable during all the past years.

This work would never have been performed without the guidance of my supervisors, principal supervisor Professor Ann-Katrin Johansson who found my clinical findings of severe erosion on teenagers so interesting that it resulted in a research project that became much more voluminous than I ever could have dreamed of, and together with co-supervisor Professor Anders Johansson, introduced me into the field of science. Both of you have been encouraging, pushing and dragging me through the whole project and I owe you all respect and gratitude for your skill, enthusiasm, patience and support.

Through all the years of clinical data collection I also had invaluable support by Dental assistant Beatrice Reber-Holmquist, who kept the patient lists and papers in order, planned and sent out the appointments, prepared for and assisted at every examination during the study, and not the least, performing 842 oral interviews.

Besides these outstanding persons, I would like to thank the Department of Clinical Dentistry, Faculty of Medicine, University of Bergen, for accepting me as a PhD-candidate, the generous offer of help from the staff, the office facilities, and especially to June-Vibecke Knudtsen Indrevik, who guided me through the many formalities that has been difficult to solve being situated as I was, far away from the University.

Many thanks to the Dental Research Committee, Public Dental Service, Region Örebro County, to Research Committee of Region Örebro County and to the Swedish Dental Society for financial support during the project. My gratitude goes also for the support from Associate Professor Kristina Arnrup, the Department of Dental Resarch, Public Dental Service, Region Örebro County, and to Dental assistants Yvonne Magnusson and Jenny Sandberg, always ready to find the most specific literature in no time.

Several of my colleagues have also been involved in the project. A special thanks to Head of clinic Gunilla Fernberg for permitting time and assistance for performing the clinical examinations at my disposal, in spite of our most often restrained clinical resources, and to those of my colleagues who have had a heavier load because of my research.

Last, but by no means least, I am very grateful to have my husband and my family by my side, and the presence of the family and especially the growing number of grandchildren always refills me with energy for continuing the work.

### Abstract

**Background:** Erosive wear has been observed among Swedish adolescents, but with unknown prevalence. High prevalence of dental erosion is reported from different parts of the world, and often linked to an increasing consumption of soft drinks.

**Objective:** The aim was to study the prevalence and progression of dental erosion among Swedish children and adolescents related to some health and lifestyle parameters, and to develop a simplified system for scoring dental erosion.

**Methods:** 609 out of 801 individuals aged 5-6-, 13-14- and 18-19-years participated in the cross-sectional, prospective, longitudinal study, based on a clinical examination and questionnaires. 4-year progression was studied in the 13-14-year cohort. A Simplified Erosion Partial Recording System (SEPRS) was developed. The consumption of soft drinks was studied in relation to health and lifestyle.

**Results:** Severe erosion was found in 13.3%, 11.9% and 22.3% of the respective groups. Correlation was found between soft drink consumption, male gender and severity of dental erosion. High soft drink consumers showed worse oral health and dietary and other unhealthy behaviors. After 4 years 32.3% of tooth surfaces had deteriorated by one grade and 2.6% by two grades. SEPRS showed 100% sensitivity and 98% specificity for detecting severe erosion in permanent teeth, and 100% each for primary teeth.

**Conclusion:** Dental erosion was common among Swedish adolescents, especially among males. The high prevalence and progression was associated with worse oral health and some less healthy lifestyle factors. The simplified recording system, SEPRS, is a useful tool for screening for dental erosion in these age groups.

**Consequences:** In view of the high prevalence of dental erosion and soft drink consumption among Swedish adolescents, there is a need to introduce community-based preventive programs from early ages as well as epidemiological recording of dental erosion.

# List of articles

- Paper I. Hasselkvist A, Johansson A, Johansson AK. Dental erosion and soft drink consumption in Swedish children and adolescents and the development of a simplified erosion partial recording system. Swed Dent J 2010;34:187-95.
- Paper II. Hasselkvist A, Johansson A, Johansson AK. Association between soft drink consumption, oral health and some lifestyle factors in Swedish adolescents. Acta Odontol Scand 2014;72:1039-46.
- Paper III. Hasselkvist A, Johansson A, Johansson AK. A 4 year prospective longitudinal study of progression of dental erosion associated to lifestyle in 13-14 year-old Swedish adolescents. J Dent 2016;47:55-62.

"The published papers are reprinted with permission from Swedish Dental Journal, Acta Odontologica Scandinavica and Journal of Dentistry. All rights reserved."

# CONTENTS

LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS	9
INTRODUCTION	10
DENTAL EROSION	10
CLINICAL SIGNS AND SYMPTOMS OF DENTAL EROSION	10
GRADING OF DENTAL EROSION AND SCORING SYSTEMS	11
EPIDEMIOLOGY OF DENTAL EROSION	13
ETIOLOGICAL/CONTRIBUTORY FACTORS AND DENTAL EROSION	14
LIFESTYLE AND DENTAL EROSION	17
SOFT DRINK CONSUMPTION: GENDER, SOCIOECONOMIC AND SOCIODEMO	
SPECIFIC MOTIVATION FOR THE STUDY	
OBJECTIVES	
HYPOTHESES	
MATERIAL AND METHODS	
STUDY DESIGN	
PATIENT SELECTION	
CLINICAL INVESTIGATION	
ANALYSES OF DATA AND STATISTICAL METHODS	
ETHICAL APPROVALS AND CONSIDERATIONS	
RESULTS	32
DROPOUTS AND MISSING DATA ANALYSIS	
INTRA-EXAMINER CONCORDANCE	
PREVALENCE, PROGRESSION AND INCIDENCE OF DENTAL EROSION	
LIFESTYLE, CLINICAL VARIABLES AND DENTAL EROSION	35
DISCUSSION	
METHODOLOGICAL ASPECTS	
ANALYSES OF DATA AND STATISTICAL METHODS	43
PREVALENCE, PROGRESSION AND INCIDENCE OF DENTAL EROSION	44
FACTORS ASSOCIATED WITH PROGRESSION OF DENTAL EROSION	47
SOFT DRINK CONSUMPTION	48
ASPECTS OF PREVENTION AND TREATMENT OF DENTAL EROSION	
CONCLUSIONS	55
FUTURE PERSPECTIVES	56
SOURCE OF DATA	57
APPENDIX 1. WRITTEN QUESTIONNAIRE	82
APPENDIX 2. ORAL INTERVIEW	87
APPENDIX 3. ORAL INTERVIEW (PAPER III)	90

# List of abbreviations

BEWE	Basic Erosive Wear Index
BMI	Body Mass Index
CI	Confidence Interval
DAFNE	Data Food Networking
DMFS	Decayed Missed Filled Surfaces
DMFT	Decayed Missed Filled Teeth
EMG	Electromyography
GBI	Gingival Bleeding Index
GER(D)	Gastro Esophageal Reflux (Disease)
HBSC	Collaborative Health Behaviour in School-aged Children
HBSC L	Collaborative Health Behaviour in School-aged Children Litre
	-
L	Litre
L OR	Litre Odds Ratio
L OR SD	Litre Odds Ratio Standard Deviation
L OR SD SEPRS	Litre Odds Ratio Standard Deviation Simplified Erosion Partial Recording System
L OR SD SEPRS SPSS	Litre Odds Ratio Standard Deviation Simplified Erosion Partial Recording System Statistical Package for the Social Sciences

# Introduction

#### **Dental erosion**

Tooth wear is caused by several overlapping mechanisms, which are frequently described as dental erosion, abrasion and attrition although it may also include demastication and abfraction [1]. Tooth wear is not a new phenomenon as extensive wear frequently occurred in ancient societies, where a coarse diet and using the teeth as tools caused abrasive/attritional wear, while dietary and/or disease conditions attributed to erosive wear [2-4]. Lifestyle has changed greatly since ancient times and dental erosion is nowadays regarded to be the main cause of tooth wear [5].

Within the oral environment, the tooth surface is covered and protected by the pellicle, a thin layer of salivary mucoproteins and lipids [6-9]. When the tooth surface is exposed to an acid, the acid diffuses through the pellicle and studies indicate that the pellicle also gradually dissolves in the presence of acids [7,9-11]. During the erosive process calcium and phosphate is dissolved in the outer layer of the enamel, reducing the micro-hardness and the resistance against mechanical forces, which, in turn, enhances the effects of abrasion and attrition [12]. In dentine, the demineralization takes place firstly in peritubular and thereafter in intertubular dentine, while the softer organic structure remains [13-15].

#### Clinical signs and symptoms of dental erosion

The early clinical signs of dental erosion are loss of the topographical features on the enamel surfaces including a slight flattening. As the erosive process continues there will also be changes in the macro-morphology of the teeth. Occlusal erosive wear in molars and premolars manifests as cuppings, which are lesions on the cusp tips, although cuppings may also be present on incisal surfaces. Some studies have shown an association between dental erosion and cuppings [16,17]. It has even been suggested that cuppings are an indicative sign of onset of erosion in young individuals [18-20].

Further progression of the erosive process gradually exposes the dentine, leaving the dentine tubules open, which increases the risk for hypersensitivity [21-23]. It is therefore quite common that individuals suffering from erosion experience problems when eating or drinking [24]. Extensive progression of the erosive wear may also involve the dental pulp, causing pulpitis or necrosis and, at a more advanced stage, even tooth loss. Studies have found direct, or close to, pulpal involvement in 1-13 % of patients with extensive tooth wear [22,25,26]. Kaifu et al. stated in 2003 that "our synthesis of the available evidence suggests that the human dentition is designed on the premise that extensive wear will occur" [27], and in 2014 Ganss explained that "even extensive wear can be regarded as a condition rather than a pathology, provided that the amount of loss is related to the expected life span" [28]. In the clinical situation it is mainly up to the clinician to judge whether the level of tooth wear is pathological or not, since there is no clear description of the accepted level of tooth substance loss related to function, age or expected life span in patients with tooth wear [29,30].

#### Grading of dental erosion and scoring systems

Today, there is no single internationally-accepted standardized tool for grading of dental erosion, and instead a broad range of scoring systems have been proposed and used. As far back as 1979 Eccles presented a system for grading dental erosion [31]. The scale was constructed for clinical use and many of the successive scales for grading of dental erosion were influenced by Eccles, such as: Linkosalo & Markkanen [32], Lussi et al. [33], O'Brien [34], Aine et al. [16], Johansson et al. [35], O'Sullivan [36], Bartlett et al. [37], Mulic et al. [38] and Margaritis et al. [39]. Another early system for grading tooth wear in general was the Tooth Wear Index (TWI), presented by Smith & Knight in 1984 which was primarily intended for use in research and epidemiological studies [40]. TWI also included some specific criteria for grading of dental erosion and the index has been modified and used by other researchers in several studies [41-45]. Efforts have also been made to link systems for grading wear to a treatment guide according to specified dietary and behavioral criteria [37,39,46], as well as treatment need [47].

The numbers of grades contained in various scales varies, with the range usually being between 0-5. In scales for grading erosive wear, score 1 mostly describes mild enamel surface loss. For more severe erosion, the levels between moderate and severe scores show major variation across the different scales. In several scales the amount of visible dentine is assessed, even though it has been suggested that it often is more or less impossible to make a reliable clinical assessment whether the dentine is exposed or not [19,21,48].

The number of teeth that are graded differ among the different scoring systems. Some include a full mouth recording while others include partial recording. Johansson et al. used a partial recording system and showed that specific surfaces exhibited pronounced erosive wear, i.e. on palatal surfaces in maxillary incisors and on occlusal surfaces in first lower molars [35]. This finding has been confirmed in later studies performing full mouth recording in epidemiological research [49-52]. The specific teeth used for partial recording have been termed "marker teeth" for erosive wear and such teeth have thereafter frequently been used in many studies, sometimes complemented with grading of mandibular anterior teeth and maxillary first molars [53-65].

The fact that a universally adopted scoring system for dental erosion has not yet emerged is probably at least partially due to the fact that the validation of such a system would be complicated. There are however a few reports on comparisons of the reliability among different scoring systems. Basic Erosive Wear Examination (BEWE) [37] was introduced in 2008 with an aim to provide an internationally accepted system for grading dental erosion. This system has been compared to a number of other indices [38-40,66,67]. In spite of the numerous comparisons between BEWE and other grading system, BEWE was not validated prior to the aforesaid comparative studies and, in addition it has received considerable criticism by other authors [46,68].

#### Epidemiology of dental erosion

#### Cross-sectional studies

Studies from all over the world report that dental erosion is common among children and adolescents. The studies have been performed in different age groups originating from different cultural and socioeconomic environments, and within groups of large age spans or selected groups. In addition, grading of teeth is performed by a single or by multiple investigators. Bearing in mind the different scales and methodologies applied, the reported prevalence rates vary considerably between studies. Furthermore, most studies report prevalence of "erosion into dentine", while some studies report prevalence as "signs of erosion", which are not always defined, making the different results even more difficult to compare.

In primary teeth the reported prevalence of erosive tooth wear varies largely. For example in Chinese children aged 3-5-years only 1% showed dental erosion into dentin, while an Australian study with an older age cohort of 5-14-years, found that 78% showed severe erosion in primary molars [69,57]. Studies on permanent teeth in children and adolescents show erosive wear within a narrower range. In the Netherlands none of 11-year-olds showed erosion into dentine [70], but in Saudi Arabia up to 26% of 12-14-year-olds did so [53]. In Iceland one study found that none of the 6-year-olds showed erosive wear in permanent teeth, while 1% of 12-year-olds and 6% of 15-year-olds had erosion into dentine [52]. In Denmark 2% of 15-17-year-olds showed erosion into dentine [71] and in Norway the corresponding figures for 16-18-year-olds was 15% [65]. A recent Swedish study among 20-year-olds found that 18% had erosion in to dentine [72].

Many studies report gender differences in the prevalence of dental erosion among children and adolescents. Most often it is reported that dental erosion is more common/severe among boys [50,54-56,65,70,71,73-75], though some studies did not find any difference among genders [39,58,62,64,76-78] and a few studies found more erosion among girls [60,79].

#### Longitudinal studies

Longitudinal studies of dental erosion are scarce. One German study performed on study casts during the period from 1977 to 1999 found that the number of individuals with erosion in permanent teeth increased four-fold during a five-year follow-up (mean age 10.2 years at baseline and 15.8 years at follow-up), rising from 6% to 25%. It was further reported that individuals with erosion in the primary teeth were at higher risk for erosion also in the permanent dentition. In the same study, the prevalence of dental erosion in primary teeth was almost twice as high during 1990-1999 than during 1977-1989, from 53% up to 87% [49]. In another clinical longitudinal study published in 2003 it was found that 27% of 12-year-old English children had developed new or more advanced lesions after two years [54]. Another 3-year longitudinal clinical study in the Netherlands found that dental erosion progressed from 30% among 11-12-year-olds up to 44% among 14-15-year-olds [70].

#### Etiological/contributory factors and dental erosion

The etiological factors for dental erosion are basically divided into intrinsic and extrinsic factors. Intrinsic factors are connected to the acidity of stomach acid entering the oral cavity under different circumstances and the extrinsic factors are associated with acid from outside of the body like, for example, acidic drinks, fruits and other food items entering the oral cavity resulting in an acidic challenge on the teeth.

Stomach acid, an intrinsic etiological factor, may enter the oral cavity by gastroesophageal reflux (GER) and/or by vomiting. In case the episodes of GER cause troublesome symptoms and/or complications it is classified as a disease, gastroesophageal reflux disease (GERD) [80]. Gastric juice has a pH close to 1.0 [81] and the esophageal pH is therefore often low during episodes of reflux [82].

The prevalence of diagnosed GERD among children varies for different ages and between studies [83]. Several studies have reported an association between GER(D) and dental erosion/tooth wear among children and adolescents [16,62,84-86] and among adults [87,88]. Contradictory results have also been reported, where no

association between stomach reflux and dental erosion has been found in children and adults [72,89-91]. In spite of the divergent results it is accepted that GER(D) is a risk factor for developing dental erosion [92,93].

Eating disorders often start early and the lifetime prevalence is 2-4% in young women [94]. Among Swedish patients with eating disorders it was found that more than half of the subjects had erosive lesions into dentine, and that the erosive tooth wear was strongly correlated with the numbers of years of binge-eating [95]. These results were supported by another Swedish study showing higher severity of dental erosion in eating disorder patients compared to matched healthy controls [96].

Other conditions/disorders such as pregnancy and alcoholism may also produce reflux and vomiting and increase the risk for dental erosion, but these conditions are uncommon among children and adolescents.

The most common extrinsic etiological factor related to dental erosion in children and adolescents is consumption of acidic soft drinks [3]. A soft drink is defined as "any of a class of nonalcoholic beverages, usually but not necessarily carbonated, normally containing a natural or artificial sweetening agent, edible acids, natural or artificial flavours, and sometimes juice. Natural flavours are derived from fruits, nuts, berries, roots, herbs, and other plant sources. Coffee, tea, milk, cocoa, and undiluted fruit and vegetable juices are not considered soft drinks" [97]. An early clinical study to show a clear association between consumption of acidic drinks and dental erosion was performed on young Saudi men [17]. Today many other clinical studies from different parts of the world have confirmed that acidic soft drinks are associated with tooth wear among children and adolescents [53,58,60,72,74,78,84,86,91,98-107], and there is a general acceptance that soft drink consumption is of importance for the development of dental erosion among younger people, even if other reports also have found weak or no association at all [50,59,61,64,85,108]. This is elaborated on in greater detail later in this thesis.

Other extrinsic factors regarded as risk factors for the development of dental erosion are frequent consumption of acidic medication such as Vitamin C tablets, aspirin or

consumption of sour candy [58,107,109,110]. Other dietary risk factors that have been shown to increase the risk for erosive wear in adults are, for example, vegetarian and raw food diets [32,111]. In addition, occupational environment such as airborne acid in chemical industries or professional wine tasting are also extrinsic sources known to cause dental erosion [112-114].

One of the contributory factors which is associated with dental erosion is oral hygiene practices. In this regard, a positive association between lower gingival bleeding and higher dental erosion has been found [17,101] as well as between different cleaning aids and techniques and dental erosion [17,88]. Toothbrushing may enhance wear by a mechanical action on a tooth surface softened after a foregoing erosive etching [115,116]. To what extent toothbrushing and toothpaste may produce loss of dental hard tissue is under constant debate [117-119]. A common advice to avoid wear is to postpone toothbrushing for 30 minutes after intake of an acidic item to allow remineralization of the tooth surface [120]. During the past years there have been doubts raised about this recommendation based on other studies and it has been suggested that such an advice to patients might be reconsidered [88,121].

As regards drink consumption, individual differences in developing dental erosion may be explained by different methods of drinking and it is clear that certain methods of drinking may extend the contact time between the acid and the tooth surface. Thus, a retaining drinking technique, i.e. when the acidic drink is kept in the oral cavity for a prolonged time before swallowing, or a sipping method, i.e. intake of small amounts of drink over a long period, are shown to be associated with dental erosion [101,122,123].

The salivary pellicle protects against dental erosion [7,124,125] and the salivary capacity to buffer and neutralize the acid is also an important factor in the protection of the tooth [12,13,126-128]. In an oral environment supersaturated with calcium and phosphorus ions, the enamel is not as easily dissolved [13] and calcium-rich dietary items, especially dairy products (even soured milk products), may therefore play a protective role against acidic challenges [110,129-132]. Apart from habitual and

physiological factors, recent studies have indicated that genetic variations may also play a role in the development of dental erosion, while an *in vitro* study has shown that enamel loss was higher in males than in females [133,134].

#### Lifestyle and dental erosion

Lifestyle is a term originally coined in 1929 by Austrian psychologist Alfred Adler (1870-1937), and has been defined as "the habits, attitudes, tastes, moral standards, economic level, etc., that together constitute the mode of living of an individual or group" [135]. Lifestyle includes amongst others, dietary habits and is therefore of utmost importance for the development of dental erosion. Among children and adolescents, frequent intake of soft drinks is regarded as the most important lifestyle factor related to dental erosion [3,17,35,98]

#### Consumption of soft drinks

It is clear that the lifestyle among younger people today frequently includes consumption of soft drinks. A substantial increase in soft drink consumption has in recent decades been reported in the USA [136]. In a national survey it was shown that the daily intake of all types of soft drinks among 4-8-year-olds was 138 L/year and 295 L/year among 14-18-year-olds. There was also a shift from a higher consumption of fruit juices in the younger ages to a higher consumption of carbonated drinks among adolescents [137]. In another study a shift from milk to soft drinks was reported among Canadian boys, and an increase in the consumption of carbonated drinks from 25 L/year among 4-8-year-old boys to 137 L/year among 14-18-year-old boys. Among the girls, the corresponding figures were 17 L/year and 65 L/year [138].

A report from a Union of Soft Drink Producers, covering 26 European countries, showed that the yearly production of carbonated soft drinks in 2014 was of 93 L per capita and that the production of all types of soft drinks in combination was 128 L per capita [139]. It was also concluded that the amounts of soft drinks produced varied considerably among countries. Among the European countries the highest production

of carbonated soft drinks per capita, 143 L/year, was reported from Germany and the lowest from Greece, 48 L/year [139].

In 2003 the consumption of soft drinks among 15-year-old Icelandic boys was found to be as high as 292 L/year [140]. Among Swedish children in 2003, the consumption of all types of soft drinks was 68 L/year among 4-year-olds and 87 L/year among 8- and 11-year-olds. Ten percent of the 8- and 11-year-old children reported a consumption all types of soft drinks as high as 183 L/year [141]. During 2014 the average per capita consumption of carbonated soft drinks in Sweden was reported to be 92 L/year [142].

Many other studies confirm these reports of high soft drink consumption among children and adolescents [143-155]. But, during recent years, there are also some reports about decreasing soft drink consumption among children and adolescents [156-159].

#### Soft drink consumption and health

It is evident that both oral and general health may be affected by consumption of soft drinks. Acidic soft drinks sweetened with regular sugar have, beside the potential to increase the risk for dental erosion, also the potential to increase the risk for dental caries. Many studies, in both children and adults, have found a correlation between consumption of soft drinks and dental caries [63, 160-162] although contradictory results have also been reported [163]. An association between dental caries and dental erosion has been found in many studies [57,61,72,75,77,100], indicating a triangular association between dental caries, soft drink consumption and dental erosion, while other studies report no such association [55, 63,65,74,78,164].

Regular soft drinks (sweetened with regular sugar) will add to the intake of calories. Therefore, the increasing soft drink consumption especially among children and adolescents has caused serious health concerns. There are numerous studies about soft drinks and its potential association with the globally increasing issue of overweight and obesity at young ages. The inferences from these studies are somewhat divergent, with some studies showing no association between soft drink consumption and overweight [165-169], but in a majority of studies some relation between either gaining weight and the amount of soft drink intake, or between a combination of soft drink consumption, overweight and sedentary living has been shown [170-178]. There are also reports on possible associations between soft drink consumption and the development of other general health issues such as diabetes, stroke and coronary artery calcification [179-181].

#### Soft drink consumption: gender, socioeconomic and sociodemographic factors

A majority of studies report a gender difference regarding soft drink consumption. Most often it has been found that teenage boys have a higher consumption of soft drinks than teenage girls [85,143,145,147,149,152,153,182-184], but there are also some reports where it has been found that girls drink more [60].

The amount of consumption of carbonated drinks is influenced by both socioeconomic and sociodemographic status and varies between countries. In the World Heath Organisation - Collaborative Health Behaviour in School-aged Children (HBSC) – Study (2005-2006 year survey), covering 41 western countries (viz. Europe, USA, Canada and Israel), Bulgarian youths reported the highest frequency of daily soft drink intake, followed by Israel, with 50% and 45%, respectively, having daily consumption of soft drinks (unspecified). The lowest consumption was reported from Sweden, Finland, Iceland and Estonia, where 10% or less reported daily soft drink consumption [184]. Another study published in 2005, also from the HBSC database (2001-2002-year survey) comprising 28 European countries, found that in most European countries children with parents with a higher occupational status reported a lower soft drink consumption than children with parents with lower occupational status. An exception was that in Central and Eastern European countries, soft drink intake instead increased with increasing family affluence [147]. An international register study on the Data Food Networking database (DAFNE) (published in 2010), comprising 24 European countries, found more frequent soft drink consumption in families with lower education and socioeconomic status than in families of higher education and socioeconomic status [151].

Soft drink consumption has also been found to be influenced by both sedentary living and physical activity. Higher consumption was reported among 8-13-year-olds who watched TV at least 3.5 hours per day [145], This finding is supported by several other studies on the association between soft drink consumption and screen-watching activities [150,153,176,185-190]. Physical exercise has also been found to be connected with an increased consumption of acidic drinks, especially energy drinks [191,192].

#### Specific motivation for the study

The initiation of this study followed the observation in the author's clinical workplace of several clinical cases of severe erosive wear among older adolescents during 2004. At the time, attention to dental erosion among children was not highlighted in clinic, and nothing was known about the prevalence of dental erosion among Swedish children and adolescents. There were studies from other parts of the world that reported varied prevalences. Furthermore, the progression of dental erosion over time was sparsely documented. During this period it was also common that adolescents developed a lifestyle that involved spending several hours in front of a computer along with frequent consumption of carbonated soft drinks. Studies had shown that consumption of acidic soft drinks was associated with dental erosion. It was important to study the prevalence and progression of dental erosion among Swedish children and adolescents as it related to soft drink consumption and other factors that may have an impact on development of dental erosion.

# **Objectives**

The overall aim of this thesis was to record prevalence and progression of dental erosion in children and adolescents and to evaluate related factors. Specific aims were to:

- Study the prevalence among Swedish children and adolescents (Paper I)
- Develop a simplified system for scoring dental erosion useful for epidemiological research and clinical practice (*Paper I*)
- Study the relation between soft drink consumption, lifestyle factors and oral health parameters, including dental erosion (*Paper II*)
- Study progression and incidence of dental erosion over a period of four years in the 13-14-year-group (*Paper III*)
- Study the relationship between progression of dental erosion, oral health and lifestyle factors *(Paper III)*.

#### Hypotheses

- Boys would have higher prevalence of dental erosion than girls and the prevalence is correlated with soft drink consumption. The severity of dental erosion in an individual could be evaluated by scoring a reduced number of tooth surfaces (*Paper I*)
- Soft drink consumption among Swedish adolescents is related to oral health and lifestyle (*Paper II*)
- There would be a progression of dental erosion during the teenage period. The progression of erosion is higher in boys and related to a specific lifestyle and oral health factors (*Paper III*).

# Material and methods

#### Study design

This was a prospective longitudinal study that included a cross-sectional baseline study and a four-year follow-up cohort study. The same methodology was used at baseline and at follow-up. The study included variables collected from a clinical examination and from self-reported and interview-guided questionnaires. Data collected at baseline were also used to study lifestyle factors.

#### **Patient selection**

The baseline study was planned in 2004 and took place during 2005-2007 in Nora and Storå, County Council of Örebro / Region Örebro County, Sweden.

Three age cohorts were chosen for this study: 5-6-, 13-14-, and 18-19-years, and the clinic recall system served as a tool for planning the stages of the investigation. Patients were offered appointments for a regular oral health examination during which time all data collection took place.

*Paper I*: According to the sample size calculation, with an estimated prevalence of 40% erosion into enamel/dentine and a confidence interval of 5%, the size of the total group (5-19-years-olds) was calculated as 369 individuals. During the study period (January 2005 to December 2007) a total of 1580 children and adolescents within the chosen age cohorts were scheduled for their oral health recall examination at the Public Dental Service in Nora and Storå. From this recall-list a total of 801 patients were given appointments in consecutive order. Out of these, 609 (76%) children and adolescents accepted to participate. This included 135 5-6-year-olds, 227 13-14-year-olds, and 247 18-19-year-olds, 51% of the total number of participants being males.

*Paper II*: The analysis was performed on the 13-14-year (n=195) and 18-19-year (n=197) groups from the original 474 that made up these age groups. In this analysis, 47% were males. Eighty-two individuals from these two groups did not answer the self-reported questionnaire and were therefore excluded from this study.

*Paper III*: The baseline 13-14-year-old group (n=227) was followed-up after four years (between May 2009 and January 2012) using the same methodology as in the baseline study. A sample size estimation (with a power of 80%, significance level of 5% and discordant proportion of 10%) resulted in a minimum of 127 participants being required (McNemar's test). Since the group aged 13-14-years comprised 227 individuals at baseline, it was deemed to be large enough even with some drop-outs during the study period.

The investigation was planned to take place during the oral health examination that was closest to an interval of four years, again using the recall lists for calculating and scheduling the appointments. All participants who remained as recall patients between May 2009 and January 2012 were invited to take part in the study, and 175 individuals (77%) accepted to participate of which 54% were males.

#### **Clinical investigation**

The study comprised two parts: a clinical oral health examination including scoring of dental erosion and a questionnaire investigation regarding drinking and dietary habits and some lifestyle factors that may be of some importance in the development of erosive wear.

#### Clinical examination and scoring of dental erosion at baseline and follow-up

The clinical examination followed a routine protocol. Besides medical history, it included caries, gingival and plaque status, and when indicated, further examination was performed. Radiographs were taken based on individual indication, and bitewings not more than two years old were considered acceptable for diagnosis. An exception was the 19-year-olds who were all examined with bitewings. Only caries into dentine was utilized for calculation of DMFT and DMFS.

Severity of dental erosion was recorded along with plaque accumulation and gingival bleeding on buccal and palatal surfaces of all six maxillary anterior teeth, and occlusal erosive wear (cuppings) was recorded on first permanent molars and all primary molars. The recording of anterior maxillary erosion and cuppings took place in ordinary clinical lightning, which may differ slightly between different units.

A high quality mouth mirror of intraoral photographic type was used (Fig.1). If necessary, plaque was removed by polishing with prophylaxis paste before the assessment.



Figure 1. Mirror of intraoral photographic type that was used for visual grading of dental erosion and cuppings.

The teeth were dried by compressed air before grading. For grading of dental erosion on maxillary anterior teeth a scale by Johansson et al. 1996 was used [35] (Table 1), illustrated in Fig. 2. Another scale for recording premolar and molar occlusal erosive lesions (cuppings) on both primary and permanent teeth was constructed for the study. (Table 2, Fig. 3). Surfaces that were impossible to assess, such as due to missing teeth, presence of orthodontic appliances, extensive fillings, or glossy flat facets covering most of the tooth surface that made it difficult to differentiate between erosion and other types of dental wear, were excluded from the study. When the erosive wear was deemed to be between two scale steps, the lower grade was chosen.

All marker teeth were registered for buccal cervical defects as 'yes' or 'no' according to Johansson et al. [35]. Visible Plaque Index (VPI) and Gingival Bleeding Index (GBI) on maxillary anterior teeth were recorded dichotomously as 'yes' or 'no', according to Ainamo and Bay [193].

*Table 1 – Ordinal scale used for grading severity of dental erosion on buccal and palatal surfaces of maxillary anterior teeth. [35]* 

Grade	Criteria
0	No visible changes, developmental structures remain, macro-morphology
	intact.
1	Smoothened enamel, developmental structures have totally or partially
	vanished. Enamel surface is shiny, matt, irregular, "melted", rounded or flat,
	macro-morphology generally intact.
2	Enamel surface as described in grade 1. Macro-morphology clearly
	changed, facetting or concavity formation within the enamel, no dentinal
	exposure.
3	Enamel surface as described in grades 1 and 2. Macro-morphology greatly
	changed (close to dentinal exposure of large surfaces) or dentine surface
	exposed by $\leq 1/3$ .
4	Enamel surface as described in grades 1, 2 and 3. Dentine surface exposed
	by $>1/3$ or pulp visible through the dentine.

*Note: Approximal erosion and presence of "shoulder" should be recorded.* 

Table 2 – Ordinal scale used for grading cuppings on occlusal surfaces of first permanent molars and primary molars. (Paper I)

Grade	Criteria
0	No cupping/intact cusp tip
1	Rounded cusp tip
2	Cupping $\leq 1 \text{ mm}$
3	Cupping > 1 mm
4	Fused cuppings: at least two cuppings are fused together on the same tooth



Figure 2. Clinical photos illustrating dental erosion from grade 0 to 4 on maxillary central incisors according to Table 1.





*Figure 3. Clinical photos illustrating cuppings from grade 1 to 4 on first lower molars according to Table 2* 

#### Calibration for Paper I and Paper III

*Paper I:* An inter-examiner calibration on the grading of dental erosion, cupping and buccal cervical defects was performed between the principal investigator (AH) and an experienced researcher (AKJ) prior to Paper I as well as a test of intra-examiner concordance of the examiner (AH) in the use of the erosion scales (Tables 1 and 2). Two successive blind assessments were performed after an interval of two to six weeks in ten patients aged 5-6-years (140 primary teeth / 200 surfaces) and in 24 patients aged 13-14-/18-19-years (220 permanent teeth / 384 surfaces).

*Paper III:* Prior to the follow-up study a new test of intra-examiner reliability of grading was performed in 13 non-participants aged 13-19-years (208 surfaces in 130 permanent teeth, comprising 78 maxillary anterior teeth and canines and 52 first permanent molars).

The principal investigator performed all clinical examinations at baseline and followup, and the recordings of plaque, gingival bleeding, erosion/cupping and cervical defects were always performed prior to the routine examination. The examiner was blinded to the results from the questionnaire during the assessment.

#### Questionnaire at baseline (Paper I and II) and follow-up (Paper III)

*Paper I and II:* The questionnaire was divided into two parts, a self-administered part that was filled in by the patient/parent at home and sent back by mail or handed over at the clinic visit, and an oral part that was completed at the clinic visit by interview. The interviews were performed by a specially trained dental assistant (BR-H). Paper I was based on the oral interview and paper II was based on both the oral interview and the self-administered questionnaire. The questionnaires were slightly modified from a form that has been used and successively modified in other studies [17,35]. The questions were related to different lifestyle and general health factors.

• Frequency of intake (per day/week/month) of dietary items: sweet/sour sweets, ice lolly/ice cream, snacks/biscuits, cheese, fresh/dried fruit, water, soft drinks, tea, coffee, milk/yoghurt/sour milk.

- General health: medication, stomach problems, vomiting, body height and weight, and if they had tried to change their weight.
- Oral health: symptoms from the mouth/teeth, dry mouth, frequency of tooth brushing (times per day/week).
- If the patient or either parent was born outside Sweden.
- Habits: drinking method (keeping the drink in the mouth before swallowing); screen-viewing (hours per day during weekdays and during weekends); and physical activity (frequency of exercising and competition/games per week).
- Vegetarian diet: yes/no

In the oral interview the daily amounts and frequency of consumption of all types of hot and cold beverages (except alcoholic) were recorded for breakfast, lunch, dinner, between meals, during physical exercise and during the night. To facilitate the estimation of the amount of drinks, glasses and cups of different sizes were showed as examples on specific volumes.

*Paper III:* Questions that concerned only the 5-6-year-old group were excluded in the self-administered questionnaire for the 13-14-year-olds at the follow-up, and there were minor changes in the oral interview that was complemented with questions about indigestion (symptoms of gastric reflux, yes/no) and recording of alcoholic beverages (beer, cider, wine, alcopops). The additional time needed for the extended examination and interview was approximately 15 minutes in both the baseline and follow-up examination.

#### Analyses of Data and Statistical Methods

In all three studies the prevalence of erosion was at the tooth surface level and the individual level by merging scores from Tables 1 and 2 into a combined scale (Table 3).

In all three papers, descriptive analysis was applied. Inferential statistics was used for comparing groups (Mann-Whitney U-Test) and for assessing the association between

groups (Pearson correlation analysis). Multivariate logistic regression was applied on high/low soft drink consumption (separately within the two age groups, *Paper II*) using high and low consumption as dependent variable, and on high/low progression groups as dependent variable (*Paper III*).

*Paper I*: Descriptive statistics were applied. The individuals were further divided into two groups based on the highest score recorded on any tooth, in which the high erosion group showed at least one tooth with severe or very severe erosion and the low erosion group showed no higher than mild erosion on any tooth (Table 3). The high and low erosion groups were compared with respect to gender and to the yearly consumption of carbonated soft drinks.

A simplified erosion partial recording system (SEPRS), using only four marker surfaces in permanent teeth (highest score on palatal surfaces of tooth numbers 11/21 and cuppings of tooth numbers 36/46) or six surfaces in primary teeth (palatal surfaces on 51/61 and all primary first molars) was evaluated against the total scoring of all marker teeth (16 and 20 surfaces respectively in permanent and primary teeth).

Grade	Localization	Criteria		
0 = No erosion	Anterior teeth	No visible changes, developmental		
		structures remain, macro-morphology		
		intact		
	Molars	No cupping/intact cusp tip		
1 = Mild erosion	Anterior teeth	Smoothened enamel, developmental		
		structures have totally or partially		
		vanished. Enamel surface is shiny, matt,		
		irregular," melted", rounded or flat,		
		macro-morphology generally intact		
	Molars	Rounded cusp tip		
2 = Moderate erosion	Anterior teeth	Enamel surface as described in grade 1.		
		Macro-morphology clearly changed,		
		facetting or concavity formation within		
		the enamel, no dentinal exposure		
	Molars	Cupping $\leq 1 \text{ mm}$		
3 = Severe erosion	Anterior teeth	Enamel surface as described in grades 1		
		and 2. Macro-morphology greatly		
		changed (close to dentinal exposure of		
		large surfaces) or dentin surface exposed		
		by ≤1/3		
	Molars	Cupping > 1 mm		
4 = Very severe erosion	Anterior teeth	Enamel surface as described in grades 1,		
		2 and 3. Dentin surface exposed by $>1/3$		
		or pulp visible through the dentin		
	Molars	Fused cuppings: at least two cuppings		
		are fused together on the same tooth		

Table 3 – Combined erosion scale from grading of maxillary anterior teeth (Table 1) and molar cuppings (Table 2).

*Paper II:* The 13-14-year-old and 18-19-year-old groups were divided into high and low soft drink consumption subgroups, derived respectively from approximately the highest and lowest one-thirds of carbonated soft drink consumption (n=58 High / n=60 Low in 13-14-year group and n=57 High / n=57 Low in 18-19-year group).

The middle soft drink consumption group was excluded from the analysis and the high and low consumption groups were compared with respect to gender, dietary habits including all kinds of drinks, oral and general health factors, oral hygiene habits, Body Mass Index (BMI) and physical activity.

*Paper III:* The progression of dental erosion/cupping between baseline and follow-up was compared at the tooth surface level. Since no greater progression than two grades was found, the progression was registered as: 0 (unchanged), +1 (one grade of progression and +2 (two grades of progression).

The mean progression per tooth surface and per individual was calculated and the material was divided into three groups based on the mean change: low progression group (0-0.2 scale steps), middle progression group (>0.2-<0.5) and high progression group (>0.5 steps). The middle progression group was excluded in the analysis, and the high and low progression groups were compared regarding differences with respect to gender, dietary habits including all kinds of drinks, oral and general health factors, oral hygiene habits, BMI and physical activity.

#### Ethical approvals and considerations

Approvals from the Regional Ethical Review Board in Uppsala, Sweden, was obtained for each study prior to the start (no. 2004/M-434, *Paper I* and *II* and 2009/031, *Paper III*). The patient and/or parent were provided with written and oral information about the study, and an informed consent was signed by the participant or by a parent in cases of under-aged children. If there was a diagnosis of erosion or any other oral condition, the patient was informed and preventive and/or restorative measures were carried out, following standard routines and free of charge.

## Results

This section provides a summary of the most interesting findings from the included studies. The results are described in more details with figures and tables in the respective *Papers I*, *II* and *III*.

#### Dropouts and missing data analysis

*Drop outs: Paper I*; Out of 801 children, 609 (75%) accepted to participate in the study. Among the dropout of 192 individuals, 48 were excluded because they failed to return the signed consent. One hundred and three individuals did not want to participate or failed to cooperate due to functional disorders and/or communication problems, and 41 never showed up for their appointments.

*Drop outs: Paper III*; From the baseline group of 227 13-14-year-olds, 175 individuals accepted to participate (77%). Fifty-two individuals were lost, of which 10 were excluded because of failure to return the signed consent and 42 refused to participate or were no longer patients at the clinic.

*Missing data analysis*: In *Paper II*, the 82 individuals who were excluded from the analysis due to incomplete responses of the self-administered (written) questionnaire did not differ significantly to the responders as regards age group, gender, DMFT/S, severity of dental erosion and GBI. However, the non-responders reported significantly higher consumption of carbonated soft drinks, with the 18–19-years-old non-responders having significantly higher VPI. In *Paper III*, no significant differences for responders compared to non-responders with respect to gender or age (13- or 14-years) were found. However, non-participants reported a significantly lower frequency of intake of: carbonated soft drinks other than cola-type drinks, ice-cream and cheese, and a significantly higher frequency of intake of fruit drinks and juice. They also reported higher frequency of intake of carbonated soft drinks other than cola-type drinks between meals. In the clinical variables, non-participants had greater severity of erosion according to SEPRS, and lower GBI.

#### Intra-examiner concordance

At the baseline examination, for *Paper I*, intra-examiner concordance between two successive recordings of erosive wear in permanent teeth (25 patients) was 70.7% in anterior teeth erosion and 80.0% in occlusal cuppings. For primary teeth (10 patients) the corresponding figures were 64.1% and 75.9%, respectively.

Intra-examiner concordance prior to the follow-up examination, in *Paper III*, was 77.4% in 13 patients (75% in maxillary anterior teeth and 84.6% in occlusal cuppings of first molars).

#### Prevalence, progression and incidence of dental erosion

*Paper I:* Males in age group 18-19-years exhibited a significantly higher mean erosion score than females (P=0.002), and 15% of males exhibited at least one anterior tooth with grade 3 or 4 erosion (*Paper I*, Fig. 1). No gender differences were found in 5-6- and 13-14-year-old groups. In age groups 13-14- and 18-19-years, males had significantly higher cupping scores than females (P=0.02 and P=0.01, respectively), but not in the age group 5-6 years (*Paper I*, Fig. 3).

In all age groups, severe erosion was found only on palatal surfaces, and cuppings were more often found on first maxillary molars in primary teeth and on first lower molars in permanent teeth, although severe anterior tooth erosion and cuppings were not always found in the same individuals. Cervical defects (total number/individual) showed higher prevalence among males in 5-6- and 18-19-year-old groups (*Paper I*, Fig. 2).

The use of Simplified Erosion Partial Recording System (SEPRS) for permanent teeth (four surfaces) for predicting severe/very severe dental erosion had a sensitivity and specificity of 100% and 98%, respectively, compared to scoring 16 surfaces. In primary teeth it was 100% for both sensitivity and specificity (six surfaces compared to 20 surfaces).

The prevalence of the combined anterior tooth erosion and cuppings (Table 3), according to SEPRS, was 11.9% among 13-14-year-olds, 22.3% among 18-19-year-

olds and 13.3% in primary teeth among the 5-6-year-olds (*Paper I*, fig 4). The prevalence was highest in boys aged 18-19-years, namely 34.4%. Gender differences were only significant in the 18-19-year-old group.

*Paper III:* The prevalence of severe/very severe erosion for boys, according to SEPRS, was 9.5% at baseline and 14.9% at follow-up, and for girls 2.5% and 6.3%, respectively (*Paper III*, Fig 5). While at baseline there was no significant difference between boys and girls, such a difference was observed at follow-up.

Ninety-three out of 2566 surfaces (3.6%) were graded as improved. These surfaces were counted as unchanged in the statistics. A deterioration by one grade was registered on 830 tooth surfaces (32.3%) and two grades on 67 surfaces (2.6%) (Table 4).

Thirty-six tooth surfaces (1.4%) had progressed to severe erosion. At baseline, 12 individuals showed severe erosion on at least one tooth, and at follow-up further nine individuals had progressed from mild/moderate to severe erosion.

Progression was most commonly seen in maxillary canines (56.4%), and least commonly in maxillary first molars 16/26 (7.8%). Anterior teeth showed more erosive progression than did first molars, that is, 43.2% and 12.1%, respectively. Buccal surfaces showed higher progression than palatal surfaces, that is, 48% and 38.2%, respectively.

There was no difference in progression between the individuals that were followed up after a shorter than after a longer interval (the follow-ups having taken place between 46 and 61 months). There was no difference in progression by gender although females showed lower grades according to SEPRS at both ages.

The incidence was 76% based on the individuals who showed none/minimal signs of dental erosion and cupping at baseline (n=59) and had developed grade two or more in at least one tooth at the follow-up (n=45).

Table 4 - Progression of erosion and cupping scores in all six maxillary anterior teeth (1881 surfaces) and all first molars (685 surfaces) between baseline and follow-up. N=175 individuals. Missing teeth = 234. Grading of dental erosion according to Table 3.

Grading at follow-up							
Grading - at baseline	0	1	2	3	4	Total at baseline	
No Erosion (grade 0)	232	443	63			738	
Mild erosion (grade 1)		964	357	3		1324	
Moderate erosion (grade 2)			446	30	1	477	
Severe erosion (grade 3)				23	0	23	
Very severe erosion (grade 4)					4	4	
Total at follow-up	232	1407	866	56	5	2566	

#### Lifestyle, clinical variables and dental erosion

*Paper I*: Boys drank significantly greater amounts of carbonated and non-carbonated drinks in both of the older age groups, and there was a significant correlation between reported soft drink intake and severity of dental erosion in the 18-19- group and in the 13-14-year-old group, (r=0.36, p=0.001 and r=0.14, p=0.04 respectively) (*Paper I*, Table 3).

*Paper II*: In both age groups there were significantly more boys than girls in the high soft drink consumption group groups, (p < 0.01 and p > 0.001 respectively) (Table 5).

Table 5 - Consumption of carbonated soft drinks (L/year) at baseline by gender, low and high soft drink consumption in age groups 13-14-years (n=195) and 18-19-years (n=197), and calculated as the mean of the present and past consumption levels.

Age	Group	Gender	Mean soft drink consumption	Range	SD
			(L/year)		
13-14 year	Low	Female n=39	7	0-17	6.7
	n=60	Male n=21	11	0-17	6.0
	High	Female n=22	74	45-226	39.1
	n=58	Male n=36	71	43-159	25.8
18-19 year	Low	Female n=43	8	0-26	8.0
	n=57	Male n=14	12	0-25	8.5
	High	Female n=18	137	78-333	73.9
	n=57	Male n=39	181	78-1248	207.0

Dietary variables, oral hygiene habits, sports exercise, meal patterns, screen-viewing behaviors, BMI and parents born outside Sweden differed significantly between high and low consumers in one or both of the two age groups. Dental erosion in both age groups and DMFT/DMFS in the oldest group were significantly higher among high soft drink consumers (*Paper II*, Table 4). Predictive variables for high consumption of carbonated soft drinks and according to logistic regression was male gender, unhealthy dietary habits, lesser physical activity, higher BMI and longer time spent in front of TV/computer (*Paper II*, Tables 5 and 6).

*Paper III*: The yearly mean consumption of carbonated soft drinks increased from 38 L up to 48, and the consumption of all soft drinks from 119 up to 132 L. There was a significant correlation between reported soft drink consumption between meals and progression of dental erosion (Table 6).

Table 6 - Differences in variables related to dietary habits and other lifestyle factors and clinical findings in the high progression group at follow-up. P denotes the difference between the high and the low progression groups.

Variables	High progression group at
	follow-up
	р
Dietary habits	
<u>Higher intake of:</u>	
Sour candy (at follow-up)	0.029
Soft drinks between meals (at baseline)	0.048
Lower intake of:	
Soured milk (at baseline)	0.046
Tea for breakfast (at follow-up)	0.032
Milk for lunch (at home) (at follow-up)	0.044
Other life style factors (at baseline)	
More often retaining soft drinks in the mouth before	0.004
swallowing	
More often dry mouth during night	0.038
More often pain from the teeth	0.034
More often taking medicine	0.021
Clinical findings (at baseline)	
Lower VPI	0.018
Lower GBI	0.031
Lower mean of erosion 13-23	0.001

No significant differences between the two groups were seen between progression and caries development, BMI, or sedentary living. In the adjusted logistic regression analysis, it was found that a lower severity of erosive wear at baseline had the highest OR (13.3) for progression of tooth wear (*Paper III*, Table 5).

# DISCUSSION

## **Methodological aspects**

## Aspects of patient selection and participation rate

During the early years of the 2000s, the author and colleagues observed dental erosion in a number of teenagers at the dental clinics in Nora and Storå, Örebro County Council. At that time dental erosion in children and adolescents had been reported in other parts of the word [50,53,54,73,99,140,194], but the prevalence in these groups in Sweden was unknown. The dental clinics in Nora and Storå were located in small, typically Swedish communities, each with public schools for children and adolescents aged 6-16-years. Also, 98% and 97% of all 3-19-year-olds in Nora and Storå were enrolled in the Public Dental Service for their dental care. This is confirmed by Department of Dentistry, Region Örebro County, Örebro, which implies that a study cohort among these children and adolescents represents a mix of socioeconomic status in these communities. The study was performed during the ordinary recall appointments to achieve a participation rate high enough to be representative for the general Swedish population in smaller communities.

Since dental erosion is age dependent [54,70,195], as are the dental development and lifestyles of growing children, three different age groups were selected for the study. The 5-6-year-olds have mainly primary teeth and are to a large extent dependent on parents' care. The 13-14-year-olds with newly erupted permanent teeth are gradually reaching independence from parental influence while connecting with new friends and new habits. The teeth in 18-19-year-olds would have erupted for some time, while the individuals are often more independent from their families, and starting to create their own ways of living. The three groups selected for investigation in this study were therefore deemed to be representative for the different and important phases of childhood and adolescents.

Non-participation in epidemiologic studies is an increasing problem and has worsened during recent years [196]. The ability to generalize from the results of a

questionnaire and clinical findings depends on a sufficient number of participants. A response rate of at least 60% is set as a minimum requirement for publication by some scientific journals [197]. Considering the foregoing, the participation rate in this study of 75% in the baseline study (*Paper I*) and 77% in the follow-up study (*Paper III*) can be considered as good. In addition, the sample size calculation determined that there should be a minimum of 369 participants recruited for the baseline study (*Paper I*) and 127 participants in the follow-up study (*Paper III*), numbers that were exceeded in both of the studies. Therefore, and in combination with the fact that more than 97% of all children in these regions attended the public dental clinics, the results from this study may allow some general conclusions to be drawn about prevalence of dental erosion and the association with soft drink consumption and other lifestyle factors among children and adolescents in smaller communities in Sweden. Unfortunately, there is still no other similar published study on children or younger adolescents in Sweden with which to compare the present findings.

The follow-up investigation (*Paper III*) was planned to take place at the individual's ordinary dental appointment as close as possible to an interval of four years. It was considered important to conduct the data collection as an adjunct to their regular recall appointment in order to minimize the dropout rate from the study. The ideal would have been to equalize the time span between baseline and follow-up according to Dugmore at al. [54], but in spite of every effort, the time span became fairly wide (41-63 months). Nevertheless, no statistical difference in progression of dental erosion between shorter or longer follow-up intervals was noted. In addition, if an extra non-regular appointment had been given for this study, the risk for attendance bias may have been higher since it is likely that participants who are more concerned with their oral health could have been overrepresented.

The analysis of differences between the study group and dropouts in *Paper II and III* differed in some respects since the drop-outs reported a higher frequency of intake of fruit drinks, juice and carbonated soft drinks between meals, so that a bias cannot be excluded. It can be mentioned that a drop out analysis has not been seen in other longitudinal studies on dental erosion [49,54,70].

## Clinical examination and scoring of dental erosion

The study was performed in an actual clinical setting, with good illumination and complemented with large mirrors of high quality (designed for intraoral photographing), earlier described by Johansson et al. [35]. In that way, it was possible to visualize small details on the tooth surface topography, facilitating detection of the characteristics of the early signs of dental erosion. Among other longitudinal studies on dental erosion, only one has been performed in a clinical setting, but it is not clearly described whether it took place in conjunction with the participant's regular dental examination [70]. Performing studies in schools during schooldays may minimize the drop-out [54], but the clinical conditions may be impaired. If study casts were available this could minimize the drop-out, but the quality of the casts and inherent difficulty of grading mild erosive wear from casts could complicate the matter [49]. Besides, it has been shown that registration of wear on study casts showed lower reliability than clinical registration [198].

According to most researchers, the most common sites for dental erosion are maxillary anterior teeth and mandibular molars [35,49-52]. Previous studies have also shown an association between erosion and cuppings on molars [17,18,35]. Therefore, two scales were used, one for maxillary anterior teeth (Table 1) and one for molar cuppings (Table 2).

The scale for maxillary teeth, and modifications thereof, was first described by Johansson in 1996 [35], and has subsequently been used in other studies [17,72,79,96,112,199,200]. The scale is based on changes in surface structure and tooth morphology, and is designed to assess erosive wear while attempting to exclude wear caused by attrition and abrasion. The incisal surfaces are therefore omitted from grading and only buccal and palatal surfaces on the maxillary anterior teeth are included. The lower grades of the scale define the first changes of surface structure making it possible to follow the development of erosive wear over time; this is an important advantage especially among younger individuals.

A complementary scale was constructed for grading only the cupped lesions of the molar cusp tips, based again on changes in tooth morphology and also on clinical experience (Table 2). In order to assess the total "erosive burden" in an individual the two scales were combined (Table 3).

In the 13-14- and 18-19-year-old groups, severe erosion was found only on palatal surfaces of maxillary incisors and on occlusal surfaces on first lower molars. The individuals that showed severe erosive wear on anterior teeth were not always the same as those who showed severe cupping, which suggests that prevalence found in studies that record only maxillary anterior teeth is not entirely comparable to those that record a combination of maxillary anterior teeth and molars.

To further simplify detection of severe erosive damage, a simplified erosion partial recording index (SEPRS) was developed which showed high sensitivity and specificity compared to grading all maxillary anterior teeth and molars. Consequently, SEPRS can be recommended for routine clinical screening to identify individuals having extensive erosive tooth wear (grade 3 and 4, that is, approximately into dentine). In a recent study on Yemeni children and adolescents using the combined erosion/cupping scale (Table 3), severe erosion was found also on buccal surfaces in maxillary anterior teeth (11,21) [79], and the author suggests that the localization of severe erosion is influenced by cultural differences in dietary habits which may motivate the inclusion of these surfaces in the simplified grading system.

## Questionnaire

The self-administered questionnaire is a slightly modified version of a form that has been used and modified over many years, and been applied successfully in previous studies [17,35]. Several participants failed to return it, and in order to minimize the dropout of questionnaires and signed consents, the patient/parent was asked to fill in the forms at the clinic visit when possible. The participants who did not return the forms were reminded twice by telephone or by mail with a new form attached, up to four months after the examination. Older participants filled in the questionnaire themselves, and the 5-6-year-old group and occasionally the 13-14-year-olds were

assisted by a parent. Since parents of teenagers are not always aware of the habits of their children, their assistance may increase the risk for biased answers. A better compliance with the self-administered questionnaire might have achieved if it had been performed orally at the clinic visit, but this was deemed to be too time consuming both for the patient and within our limits for the study. The question about height and weight may have been delicate since it was not always answered, and it may therefore have been better to ask, or ideally to measure, at the clinic visit. This would, however, have required movable equipment, which would have been complicated to move around, since the investigations were performed in different clinics and rooms.

The oral interviews both at baseline and follow-up required recall of detailed daily drinking and dietary intakes, both on weekdays and during weekends. These were all performed by the same dental assistant, which should have minimized the risk of bias, although in all dietary recalls there is always a risk of leaving out some intakes. The estimated drinking consumption one year earlier was also recalled, to avoid bias due to recently changed habits. Different sizes of glasses and cups were on hand during the interview to facilitate the estimation of the consumption of drinks. Although this is not frequently described in other studies, it has been used [35].

#### Analyses of data and statistical methods

In all three papers the sample was divided into subgroups: in *Paper I*, into high and low erosion groups; in *paper II*, into high and low soft drink consumption groups; and in *Paper III*, into high and low progression groups. The middle groups were excluded in the analysis and only high and low groups were compared to each other, a method that has been used in other studies [17,101]. Such a statistical approach of comparing the extremes (i.e. healthy vs. sick), makes it easier to detect associations but information is lost as regards individuals who fall in between.

In *Paper II*, separate analyses were performed for the 13-14- and 18-19-year-old groups, since some of the independent variables may be age-related or have direct association with soft drink consumption. This was suspected in particular for the

clinical findings and therefore there were only reported variables included in the regression analyses.

In *Paper III*, each tooth surface was compared between baseline and follow-up. While dividing the material into subgroups based on progression, the use of mean values from an ordinal scale may be questioned, but it was deemed to be the most relevant method.

#### Prevalence, progression and incidence of dental erosion

#### Prevalence

To compare the prevalence of severe maxillary anterior dental erosion and cupping in this study with other studies, an estimation was made that grade 3 (severe erosion) in the scales used in this study corresponds to dentine involvement in other scales. Further, the comparison was made with studies performed on similar age groups and where dental erosion specifically was graded. In primary teeth the prevalence of severe erosion was 13.3% which was lower than in other studies [53,99,194], but among younger and older adolescents it was at a higher level than in most other comparable studies. Of the 13-14-year-olds in this study, 8.8% showed erosion into dentine, which is similar to a British and a Libyan study [54,63], although most other studies in the age cohort 12-17-vears found lower prevalence or no dentine involvement at all [50,52,56,58,60,61,71,73,140], and a few showed higher figures [39,53]. In the 18-19-year age group, 22.3% showed severe erosion which is higher than comparable studies, although this age group is not frequently studied: a Brazilian study among 15-19-year-olds found no severe erosion [64], a Norwegian study among 16-18-year-olds reported 15% [65], and a comparable Swedish study among 20-year-olds reported 18% [72].

It is interesting that the prevalence of severe erosive wear at follow-up was lower in the 17-19-year-olds (12%, *Paper III*) compared to the 18-19-year group at baseline (22.3%, *Paper I*). A possible effect of the baseline study may have been that the adolescents and parents probably were influenced by the extensive information about dental erosion that was given at the examination. Also, within the study cohort,

siblings of former participants sometimes showed up, so that the parents would already have had thorough information about dental erosion and preventive measures. Another effect may have been that the dental staff at the involved clinics paid more attention to dental erosion, soft drinks and potential risks, a sense that was transmitted to the patients. Other factors that may have had an impact was the highlighting of dental erosion in media that started during the middle of the baseline study (around 2006). There was a growing interest in marketing anti-erosion toothpastes with an explosion of commercials concerning dental erosion that brought a strong message about prevention of dental erosion. A decrease in soft drink consumption was reported in this group, since the yearly mean reported consumption of carbonated soft drinks at baseline was 63L among the 18-19-year-olds and at follow-up only 48L among the 17-19-year-olds. This decrease corresponds to a recent Swedish longitudinal study on oral health, reporting that between 2003 and 2013 there was a 40% reduction in individuals that consumed soft drinks regularly among 3-20-yearolds [201], a finding similarly found in a Norwegian study [156]. Altogether, the factors mentioned above could have contributed to the decrease of erosive prevalence among the older adolescents between baseline and follow-up. Besides the possible impact of variables related to dental health, it was also a growing awareness among child health workers about children's and adolescents' overweight, thus focusing on advising individuals about diet and physical activity.

In this study male adolescents had more dental erosion than females, which is the common finding in many other comparable studies [50,52,54-56,65,70,71,73-75]. When comparing these studies to others where no gender difference [58,64,77,78], or a higher prevalence among girls [60,79], are reported, there is a tendency that the studies where males have more wear report higher prevalence of wear into dentine than in those studies where there is no gender difference. Even if there is some uncertainty in comparing studies using different scales in different age cohorts, this indicates that it may be easier to detect gender differences in groups that show higher prevalence of more severe erosive wear.

#### Progression

The few available clinical longitudinal studies of progression of dental erosion are performed on younger age groups and the follow-up periods are shorter compared to this study (*Paper III*). In this material, 30% of the adolescents had deteriorated by one or two grades of severity on at least one tooth surface. This can be compared to a British follow-up where 27% of 12-year-olds showed progression after two years [54]. Higher progression was found in the Netherlands where 56% of 11-year-olds and 45% of 12-year-olds showed progression after 3 years [70].

The progression differed between different sites in the mouth, which has not been reported on in other longitudinal studies. Most affected were maxillary anterior teeth, especially the canines and buccal surfaces while molars were least affected by progression, which probably depends on the length of time for which the teeth had been present in the mouth. At baseline (age 13-14), the canines were recently erupted with the majority of surfaces graded 0 (no erosion) and about half of them deteriorated into grade 1 during the four-year follow up. This can be compared to the first molars where only 1.5% scored 0 at baseline, having been present in the mouth for several years, and consequently developed wear earlier in childhood. Since erosive wear is shown to be age dependent [54,70,195], the finding of higher progression of dental erosion on recently erupted teeth, suggests a possible explanation as to why participants with a lower mean score of erosion on anterior teeth at baseline showed higher progression. Besides, a deterioration from score 0 to score 1 may be regarded as normal erosive wear on newly erupted teeth.

The lower progression in individuals who showed higher means of erosion at baseline may be partly explained by the definition of the scale steps, where the lower steps (0-1) grade the finest visible changes of tooth structure while the higher steps (3-4) measure a broader loss of tooth tissue within each scale step. Therefore, a relatively greater amount of tooth tissue will have to be worn away between steps 2 to 3 and between 3 or 4. It is therefore more likely that it is easier to visualize progression of wear from 0 to 1 and/or from 1 to 2 than detecting surface structures worn away from 2 up to step 3 or 4. Nevertheless, the finding of high prevalence of severe erosion in 13-14-year-olds which further increased until the age of 17-19-years, shows that the onset of severe erosion may take place early in life, and motivates regular screening of dental erosion soon after eruption of the first permanent teeth as well as continuing monitoring during adolescence.

At follow-up (*Paper III*), boys had developed a significantly higher prevalence of severe/very severe erosion compared to girls, although neither the prevalence of severe erosion at baseline nor the numbers of surfaces that progressed during the study period differed significantly by gender. This indicates, however, that boys are at greater risk for developing severe erosion, and is supported by comparable studies where the prevalence of more severe erosion increased more in boys than in girls, although in these studies the prevalence was already higher in males at baseline [54, 70].

#### Incidence

The incidence of dental erosion of 76% in this study was higher than in other studies. In a 2-year follow-up British study, the incidence was 12% between 12- and 14-years of age [54], and in a study from the Netherlands the incidence was 27% between 11-14 years of age and 20% between 12-15-years [70]. The latter study also reports that at age 14 there were only a few erosion-free individuals, which is in concordance with this study, where nobody scored a maximum of 0 on all tooth surfaces at baseline. Therefore, the incidence was calculated on participants scoring maximum grade 1 (mild erosion) on any tooth at baseline (59/175 individuals), and consequently the incidence figure in this study actually reflects a deterioration from an already "unhealthy" tooth surface into a more "diseased" one.

## Factors associated with progression of dental erosion

#### Diet

Among dietary factors, the consumption of soft drinks seems to have an influence on progression of dental erosion, since the high progression group showed higher consumption of drinks between meals (*Paper III*). This association between soft drink

consumption and progression of dental erosion has also previously been reported [100,202]. Besides soft drink consumption intake of sour candy showed to be more frequent in the high progression group, which is in accordance with a Norwegian study that found consumption of sour candy to be a risk factor for dental erosion is [107]. Another factor that is shown to influence the development of dental erosion is the mineral content (calcium and phosphate ions) in the saliva and the diet [13,110,129-132], and in this study the high progression group reported lower intake of milk (ordinary and sour), which is supported by the previously-mentioned report where lower progression was found in individuals who consumed more yoghurt products [202].

## Lifestyle factors and clinical variables

Apart from dietary factors, some other factors were found to be associated to progression of dental erosion, among others, a retaining drinking technique, a finding supported by other studies [101,122,123]. There was also an association between higher progression and lower VPI and GBI. Low VPI and GBI could be an effect of intense oral hygiene practices or it could be a reduced ability to form a pellicle, which would reduce the effect of an acidic challenge. It is difficult to speculate on this association in the present study but intensified oral hygiene habits and lower urea concentration (a promotor for pellicle formation) have been found to be correlated with dental erosion [5,101,126]. However, in a recent Swedish study among 20-year-olds, no association was found between plaque or gingival index and dental erosion [72].

#### Soft drink consumption

Factors that might impact the level of consumption of soft drinks among younger people are parental attitudes and habits regarding the consumption of such drinks, along with accessibility to the drinks [145,149,151,203,204]. Parental attitudes were not investigated in this study, an aspect that would have been interesting to include. In any event, all adolescents in this study had easy access to soft drinks in shops close to the schools during school days.

The reported consumption of soft drinks in the baseline study (*Paper I*) was significantly correlated with increased severity of dental erosion among ages 13-14and 18-19-years, a finding that is supported by several other studies [53,58,60,72,74,78,84,86,91,98-107]. It was therefore decided to further analyze the consumption of soft drinks in relation to gender, oral and general health and to some lifestyle factors (*Paper II*).

#### Soft drink consumption related to gender

The reported mean yearly consumption per capita of carbonated soft drinks in Sweden has been around 80-90 L over the last ten years [142], which is close to the mean consumption of 81.5 L/year among 18-19-year-old males in the baseline study (Paper I). The consumption of all types of soft drinks increased with age, and was especially high among 18-19-year-old males who on average consumed twice as much as females, viz. ~200 L/year and ~100 L/year, respectively. Among 13-14-yearold males, consumption of carbonated drinks was significantly higher than females. This gender difference accords with numerous other studies [85,143,145,147,149, 152,153,182,183,205], although the opposite has also been presented [60]. One explanation for the higher soft drink consumption among male adolescents could be that boys usually consume more food than girls [206] and/or have a preference for sweet tasting foods than girls of the same age [207]. Besides different patterns of consumption, teenage girls are reported to spend more of their money on items such as clothing and personal care than boys do, probably leaving less available money for fast foods [208,209]. The factors mentioned above could at least partly explain the gender difference in drink consumption.

## Soft drink consumption related to oral health

Impaired oral health was associated with a high intake of soft drinks, particularly among the 18-19-year-olds *(Paper II)*. Unsurprisingly, the high consumption group showed significantly higher severity of dental erosion. A higher number of filled surfaces among 18-19-year-old high soft drink consumers was also noted, indicating that a comorbidity between dental caries and erosion exists in this material. A similar

association between dental caries and dental erosion among children and adolescents is supported in some studies [57,61,72,75,77,100], while others do not find this association [50,55,62,63,65,78,164]. The finding of worse oral hygiene with lower frequency of toothbrushing in both high soft drink consumption groups and higher GBI found in the 18-19-year-old group is also supported by other studies [17,86]. Consequently, from the results of this study, it would seem that high soft drink consumption has a negative effect upon oral health other than dental erosion.

## Soft drink consumption related to other dietary habits

Several studies report that soft drink consumption is related to other unhealthy dietary habits [143,144,150,151,169,175,183], which is in concordance with the results in *Paper II*. It was clear that teenagers with high soft drink consumption also showed other dietary behaviors such as having salty snacks, sweets and sweetened milk more frequently. They also reported less frequent intake of fruit and sour milk/yoghurt and more infrequently having breakfast and lunch at school (school lunch is always free in Sweden), which amounts to a less healthy dietary behavior, so that it seems clear that high intake of soft drinks is interrelated with a number of other unhealthy dietary behaviors.

## Soft drink consumption related to sedentary living and overweight

Many studies show an association between high soft drink consumption and sedentary behavior [145,150,153,176,185-190], although there are exceptions [168]. In this study the high soft drink consumers reported lower physical activity and significantly more time spent on screen viewing activities than the low soft drink consumers (*Paper II*). Unfortunately, it was not possible to evaluate the sedentary variable in the follow-up study (*Paper III*), since there had been considerable changes in screen viewing activities between baseline and follow-up, with an increase in the use of smart phones and individual laptops at school, along with demands to perform computerized home-work documents.

The amount of time spent in front of the TV and computer is influenced by family rules [186], and it is shown that higher screen-watching in turn is a risk of higher

consumption of soft drinks [145,150,153,176,185,186,188,189]. In this regard, the issue of obesity in children and adolescents has been widely studied during recent years, but its association with soft drinks is still somewhat unclear. It may also be hard to confirm since both soft drink consumption and sedentary living may be associated with overweight, and with cross-wise associations between higher BMI, screen-viewing and higher soft drink consumption [170-177]. Anyway, in this study there was an association between soft drink consumption and BMI, where 18-19-year-olds with high BMI had 8.5 increased risk (OR) of being high soft drink consumers.

It would have been interesting to study the association between socioeconomic/ sociodemographic factors and erosive wear/soft drink consumption but such variables were not collected in this study except for immigrant status. In this study (*Paper II*), an immigrant background was predictive of high soft drink consumption among 13-14-year-olds, whereas a study among Norwegian 16-18-year-olds found no association between dental erosion and birth origin [65].

Gastric reflux, a common symptom of GERD, had a tendency for statistical significance for a positive correlation with high soft drink consumers in the 18-19-year-olds (*Paper II*), but no association was found as regards dental erosion. Only a few of the participants reported any gastric symptoms. The question of eating disorders was not dealt with. Although it is a relatively common condition, especially among young women [94], it may be difficult to obtain such information from patients/participants [96]. Due to the type of investigation that this study represented it would have been unrealistic to put too much effort into this matter and consequently both gastric problems and eating disorders may have been underdiagnosed.

Tooth grinding/sleep bruxism is another factor that may influence development of erosive wear because of its possible additional attritive influence, but this was not investigated in this study. In this regard, self-report (which would have been the option for assessing bruxism in this study) of sleep bruxism is considered unreliable

and confounded with bias [210]. More reliable methods for diagnosing bruxism such as polysomnography or recording of nocturnal electromyographic activity was not possible to perform in this study. In addition, there is a strong belief today that the contribution of sleep bruxism to contemporary tooth wear is small and that erosion is the main etiological factor [3]. In relation to the forgoing, in a recent study where sleep bruxism was diagnosed with portable EMG equipment, no correlation between attritional wear and bruxism was found [211].

Other oral health factors that may influence progression of erosion, like salivary flow and buffering capacity and saliva constituents, were also outside the limits of this investigation.

While it would have been interesting to include eating disorders, sleep bruxism and salivary factors in this study, it would have broadened the study so much that it would have been difficult to perform in a regular clinical setting. Therefore, the study was focused on clinical oral health factors and behavioral factors that were possible to register during a regular oral health examination.

## Aspects of prevention and treatment of dental erosion

The primary prevention method for dental erosion among children and adolescents is of course to prevent acid from reaching the tooth surfaces [82]. Unfortunately, there has been no interventional study focused on prevention of dental erosion, although there are studies focused on prevention of overweight/obesity among children through reduction of intake of sugar-sweetened beverages [212-215]. This has been performed through randomized controlled interventions [212,214] and following information campaigns in schools [213]. The impact of these efforts has in some studies been found to reduce the intake of sugar-sweetened beverages [212,214], while increasing the consumption of water and/or fresh fruit [213,214].

Many efforts have also been made to find effective secondary prevention measures against dental erosion, in particular searching different formulas and distribution modes of fluoride (mostly in forms of dentifrices or mouth rinses) for protecting and/or strengthening the tooth surface against the acidic challenge [216-218]. For example, there are indications that stannous fluoride and titanium tetrafluoride have a better effect than sodium fluoride and that higher concentration of fluoride in general is needed than is used in caries prophylaxis [217,219]. It is important to bear in mind that none of the methods for prevention of dental erosion so far have been a complete success and that research in this matter still is in its early stages [220].

If dental erosion is diagnosed clinically, it is important to inhibit, or at least reduce progression, of erosive wear and thus eliminate or reduce the need of future severe complications that may include restorative therapy [83]. In any case, a medical history should be taken to find out the main etiological and contributing factors in each individual. The history should comprise detailed records of dietary and drinking habits and methods, general health including medication, vomiting or symptoms of reflux and oral hygiene habits. When behavioral factors are predominant, in particular at early stages of erosive wear, the treatment can concentrate on counselling the individual on how to avoid the predominant etiological factors to prevent further development, including reduction of the intake of erosive beverages and other potentially erosive dietary items between meals. If indicated, the investigation may be supplemented with testing of salivary secretion and buffering capacity. Clinical implifications of the study

The high prevalence of severe dental erosion among Swedish adolescents in this study accords with, or is higher than in, other studies on the same ages [54, 63, 65, 75]. It stresses the importance of early detection of individuals at risk for developing severe erosive wear, to be able to take preventive measures before severe tissue loss is developed. Assessment of erosive wear ought to be implemented during routine dental health examination, followed by risk estimation and, if needed, taking the adequate measures, similarly to the established management of caries in the Swedish dental care system. This study provides a scale, the Simplified Erosive Partial Recording System, that is time-efficient and simple to use to identify individuals at risk during regular clinical examinations, and when severe erosion for the given age is detected, it is recommended that the examination be expanded to the whole

dentition. Should such examination suggest that the erosive wear is beyond an acceptable level for the given age, a comprehensive history should be taken. Finally, a decision about adequate preventive and/or restorative measures must be taken, and patient education is needed in order to build a platform for the treatment. The potentially rapid progression of dental erosion indicates that documentation by serial study casts and/or photographs is important for detection of progressive erosive wear. In addition, new routines for expanded clinical examination, documentation and treatment of dental erosion may have to implemented. In this regard, increased costs for such an approach may present an obstacle in the publically financed dental care (at the time of writing, including ages 0-21-years).

The association between soft drink consumption and dental health is also supported by other studies [72,79,91,100,107], as is the association with some less healthy lifestyle factors [151,184,188,190]. The Swedish Public Dental Care has resources to support children and adolescents on an individual level to perform adequate oral and dietary practices, and to some extent, also to conduct information campaigns in schools. However, it is not equipped to influence adolescent lifestyle in general, so that cooperation with other health actors may expand the contacts with parents and others around the children.

# Conclusions

The prevalence of dental erosion among Swedish adolescents was high, especially among 18-19-year-olds, where 34% of the boys showed erosion into dentine. The findings in this thesis confirm the hypothesis that boys would have higher prevalence of dental erosion than girls and that the prevalence would be correlated with soft drink consumption.

It was also confirmed that soft drink consumption among adolescents was correlated with oral health and lifestyle. High soft drink consumers more often reported an unhealthier lifestyle and showed poorer oral health than the low consumers, indicating that high soft drink consumption may be a marker for other unhealthy habits.

Over a 4-year period, those between ages 13-14-years and 17-19-years showed high progression and incidence of dental erosion, and the hypothesis that it was associated with certain lifestyle factors was confirmed. The hypothesis that the progression of dental erosion would be higher in boys than in girls was not confirmed. Anyway, both at baseline and follow-up, girls showed lower grading according to the Simplified Erosion Partial Recording System (SEPRS).

The high prevalence and progression of dental erosion point to the need for erosion preventive programs from an early age, as well as to introduce epidemiological routines for recording dental erosion during oral health examinations. SEPRS showed a high sensitivity and specificity in this group, and may be useful in both oral health examinations and epidemiological screening of dental erosion among younger people.

## **Future perspectives**

In the light of the present knowledge about dental erosion among children and adolescents, and from my point of view, I would like to focus on the following fields:

Because of the detrimental effects of high soft drink consumption on dental and general health it is urgent to perform studies on the effects of soft drink consumption in younger people including young adults. In this regard, it is also desirable to develop cooperation in research and health education between preventive health actors within the public dental care and the general child care to promote healthier lifestyles among children and adolescents from early ages.

The importance of an increased observation of erosive wear and implementing new routines for early screening and clinical registration on a national level need to be highlighted. This could be facilitated by creating a test model for clinical registration of dental erosion. It is also dependent on reaching a consensus on which grading system should be used. The combined scale used in this study is suitable for grading younger ages, and the simplified erosion partial recording system, SEPRS, is useful in general practice as a screening tool for detection of dental erosion, extended to full mouth grading, if necessary.

When erosive wear is detected the clinical registration should be accompanied by information and preventive measures. Knowledge about risk factors may improve preventive programs and reduce progression of dental erosion. Therefore further studies on the prevalence of dental erosion and associated factors among groups of different socioeconomic/sociodemographic circumstances is needed. Further on, the knowledge is scarce about the prevalence of dental erosion and related lifestyle factors among young adults, who have lived most of their lives with easy access to soft drinks and a growing tendency of sedentary living in front of a screen. It should be possible to find representative groups of young Swedish adults for epidemiological studies, especially since the oral care will be free until 23 years of age within the next years.

# Source of data

- Imfeld T. Dental erosion. Definition, classification and links. Eur J Oral Sci 1996;104:151-5.
- 2. Robb ND, Cruwys E, Smith BG. Regurgitation erosion as a possible cause of tooth wear in ancient British populations. Arch Oral Biol 1991;36:595-602.
- Johansson AK, Omar R, Carlsson GE, Johansson A. Dental erosion and its growing importance in clinical practice: from past to present. Int J Dent 2012;2012:632907.
- 4. Richter S, Eliasson ST. Enamel erosion and mechanical tooth wear in medieval Icelanders. Acta Odontol Scand 2016;74:186-93.
- Johansson AK. On dental erosion and associated factors. Swed Dent J 2002;156 (Suppl. 156):1-77.
- 6. Meurman JH, Frank RM. Scanning electron microscopic study of the effect of salivary pellicle on enamel erosion. Caries Res 1991;25:1-6.
- Hara AT, Ando M, González-Cabezas C, Cury JA, Serra MC, Zero DT. Protective effect of the dental pellicle against erosive challenges in situ. J Dent Res 2006;85:612-6.
- Hannig M, Joiner A. The structure, function and properties of the acquired pellicle. Monogr Oral Sci 2006;19:29-64.
- Moazzez RV, Austin RS, Rojas-Serrano M, Carpenter G, Cotroneo E, Proctor G, Zaidel L, Bartlett DW. Comparison of the possible protective effect of the salivary pellicle of individuals with and without erosion. Caries Res 2014;48:57-62.

- Hannig C, Berndt D, Hoth-Hannig W, Hannig M. The effect of acidic beverages on the ultrastructure of the acquired pellicle-an in situ study. Arch Oral Biol 2009;54:518-26.
- Hannig M, Hannig C. The pellicle and erosion. Monogr Oral Sci 2014;25:206-14.
- Shellis RP, Addy M. The interactions between attrition, abrasion and erosion in tooth wear. Monogr Oral Sci 2014;25:32-45.
- 13. Meurman JH, ten Cate JM. Pathogenesis and modifying factors of dental erosion. Eur J Oral Sci 1996;104:199-206.
- Lussi A, Schlueter N, Rakhmatullina E, Ganss C. Dental erosion-an overview with emphasis on chemical and histopathological aspects. Caries Res 2011;45 Suppl 1:2-12.
- 15. Shellis RP, Featherstone JD, Lussi A. Understanding the chemistry of dental erosion. Monogr Oral Sci 2014;25:163-79.
- Aine L, Baer M, Mäki M. Dental erosions caused by gastroesophageal reflux disease in children. ASDC J Dent Child. 1993;60:210-4.
- Johansson AK, Johansson A, Birkhed D, Omar R, Baghdadi S, Khan N, Carlsson GE. Dental erosion associated with soft-drink consumption in young Saudi men. Acta Odontol Scand 1997;55:390-7.
- Khan F, Young WG, Law V, Priest J, Daley TJ. Cupped lesions of early onset dental erosion in young southeast Queensland adults. Aust Dent J 2001;46:100-7.
- Ganss C. How valid are current diagnostic criteria for dental erosion? Clin Oral Investig 2008;12 Suppl 1:S41-9.

- Young A, Amaechi BT, Dugmore C, Holbrook P, Nunn J, Schiffner U, Lussi A, Ganss C. Current erosion indices – flawes or valid? Summary. Clin Oral Investig 2008;12 Suppl 1:S59-63.
- Ganss C, Klimek J, Lussi A. Accuracy and consistency of the visual diagnosis of exposed dentine on worn occlusal/incisal surfaces. Caries Res 2006;40:208-12.
- 22. Wazani BE1, Dodd MN, Milosevic A. The signs and symptoms of tooth wear in a referred group of patients. Br Dent J 2012;213:E10.
- West N, Seong J, Davies M. Dentine hypersensitivity. Monogr Oral Sci 2014;25:108-22.
- Olley RC, Moazzez R, Bartlett D. The relationship between incisal/occlusal wear, dentine hypersensitivity and time after the last acid exposure in vivo. J Dent 2015;43:248-52.
- 25. Sivasithamparam K, Harbrow D, Vinczer E, Young WG. Endodontic sequelae of dental erosion. Aust Dent J 2003;48:97-101.
- 26. Rees JS, Thomas M, Naik P. A prospective study of the prevalence of periapical pathology in severely worn teeth. Dent Update 2011;38:24-6, 28-9.
- Kaifu Y, Kasai K, Townsend GC, Richards LC. Tooth wear and the "design" of the human dentition: a perspective from evolutionary medicine. Am J Phys Anthropol 2003;Suppl 37:47-61.
- 28. Ganss C. Is erosive tooth wear an oral disease? Monogr Oral Sci 2014;25:16-21.
- 29. Lussi A, Carvalho TS. Erosive tooth wear: a multifactorial condition of growing concern and increasing knowledge. Monogr Oral Sci 2014;25:1-15.
- 30. Bartlett D, Dugmore C. Pathological or physiological erosion is there a relationship to age? Clin Oral Investig 2008;12:S27-31.

- Eccles JD. Dental erosion of nonindustrial origin. A clinical survey and classification. J Prosthet Dent 1979;42:649-53.
- Linkosalo E, Markkanen H. Dental erosions in relation to lactovegetarian diet. Scand J Dent Res 1985;93:436-41.
- Lussi A, Schaffner M, Hotz P, Suter P. Dental erosion in a population of Swiss adults. Community Dent Oral Epidemiol 1991;19:286-90.
- O'Brien M. Children's dental health in the United Kingdom 1993. Office of Population Censuses and Surveys. London, Her Majesty's Stationery Office, 1994.
- 35. Johansson AK, Johansson A, Birkhed D, Omar R, Baghdadi S, Carlsson GE. Dental erosion, soft-drink intake, and oral health in young Saudi men, and the development of a system for assessing erosive anterior tooth wear. Acta Odontol Scand 1996;54:369-78.
- O'Sullivan EA. A new index for the measurement of erosion in children. Eur J Paediatr Dent 2000;1:69-74.
- Bartlett D, Ganns C, Lussi A. Basic erosive wear examination (BEWE): a new scoring system for scientific and clinical needs. Clin Oral Investig 2008;12 (Suppl 1):S65-68.
- Mulic A, Tveit AB, Wang NJ, Hove LH, Espelid I, Skaare AB. Reliability of two clinical scoring systems for dental erosive wear. Caries Res 2010;44:294-9.
- Margaritis V, Mamai-Homata E, Koletsi-Kounari H, Polychronopoulou A. Evaluation of three different scoring systems for dental erosion: a comparative study in adolescents. J Dent 2011;39:88-93.
- 40. Smith BG, Knight JK. An index for measuring the wear of teeth. Br Dent J 1984;156:435-8.

- Millward A, Shaw L, Smith AJ, Rippin JW, Harrington E. The distribution and severity of tooth wear and the relationship between erosion and dietary constituents in a group of children. Int J Paediatr Dent 1994;4:151-7.
- 42. Larsen IB, Westergaard J, Stoltze K, Larsen AI, Gyntelberg F, Holmstrup P. A clinical index for evaluating and monitoring dental erosion. Community Dent Oral Epidemiol 2000;28:211-7.
- Bardsley PF, Taylor S, Milosevic A. Epidemiological studies of tooth wear and dental erosion in 14-year-old children in North West England. Part 1: The relationship with water fluoridation and social deprivation. Br Dent J 2004;19:413-6.
- 44. de Carvalho Sales-Peres SH, Goya S, de Araújo JJ, Sales-Peres A, Lauris JR, Buzalaf MA. Prevalence of dental wear among 12-year-old Brazilian adolescents using a modification of the tooth wear index. Public Health 2008;122:942-8.
- 45. Fares J, Shirodaria S, Chiu K, Ahmad N, Sherriff M, Bartlett D. A new index of tooth wear. Reproducibility and application to a sample of 18- to 30-year-old university students. Caries Res 2009;43:119-25.
- Wetselaar P, Lobbezoo F. The tooth wear evaluation system: a modular clinical guideline for the diagnosis and management planning of worn dentitions. J Oral Rehabil 2016;43:69-80.
- 47. Oilo G, Dahl BL, Hatle G, Gad AL. An index for evaluating wear of teeth. Acta Odontol Scand 1987;45:361-5.
- Holbrook WP, Ganss C. Is diagnosing exposed dentine a suitable tool for grading erosive loss? Clin Oral Investig 2008;12 Suppl 1:S33-9.

- Ganss C, Klimek J, Giese K. Dental erosion in children and adolescents a cross-sectional and longitudinal investigation using study models. Community Dent Oral Epidemiol 2001;29:264-71.
- 50. van Rijkom HM, Truin GJ, Frencken JE, König KG, van 't Hof MA, Bronkhorst EM, Roeters FJ. Prevalence, distribution and background variables of smooth-bordered tooth wear in teenagers in the hague, the Netherlands. Caries Res 2002; 36:147-54.
- El Aidi H, Bronkhorst EM, Truin GJ. A longitudinal study of tooth erosion in adolescents. J Dent Res 2008;87:731-5.
- Arnadottir IB, Holbrook WP, Eggertsson H, Gudmundsdottir H, Jonsson SH, Gudlaugsson JO, Saemundsson SR, Eliasson ST, Agustsdottir H. Prevalence of dental erosion in children: a national survey. Community Dent Oral Epidemiol 2010;38:521-6.
- Al-Majed I, Maguire A, Murray JJ. Risk factors for dental erosion in 5-6 year old and 12-14 year old boys in Saudi Arabia. Community Dent Oral Epidemiol 2002;30:38-46.
- Dugmore CR, Rock WP. The progression of tooth erosion in a cohort of adolescents of mixed ethnicity. Int J Paediatr Dent 2003;13:295-303.
- 55. Truin GJ, van Rijkom HM, Mulder J, van't Hof MA. Caries trends 1996-2002 among 6- and 12-year-old children and erosive wear prevalence among 12-yearold children in the Hague. Caries Res 2005;39:2-8.
- Auad SM, Waterhouse PJ, Nunn JH, Steen N, Moynihan PJ. Dental erosion amongst 13 and 14-year-old Brazilian schoolchildren. Int Dent J 2007;57:161-7.
- Kazoullis S, Seow WK, Holcombe T, Newman B, Ford D. Common dental conditions associated with dental erosion in schoolchildren in Australia. Pediatr Dent 2007;29:33-9.

- Correr GM, Alonso RC, Correa MA, Campos EA, Baratto-Filho F, Puppin-Rontari RM. Influence of diet and salivary characteristics on the prevalence of dental erosion among 12-year-old schoolchildren. J Dent Child 2009;76:181-7.
- Gurgel CV, Rios D, de Oliveira TM, Tessarolli V, Carvalho FP, Machado MA. Risk factors for dental erosion in a group of 12- and 16-year-old Brazilian schoolchildren. Int J Paediatr Dent 2011;21:50-7.
- Wang P, Lin HC, Chen JH, Liang HY. The prevalence of dental erosion and associated risk factors in 12-13-year-old school children in Southern China. BMC Public Health 2010;10:478.
- Vargas-Ferreira F, Praetzel JR, Ardenghi TM. Prevalence of tooth erosion and associated factors in 11-14-year-old Brazilian schoolchildren. J Public Health Dent 2011;71:6-12.
- Murakami C, Oliveira LB, Sheiham A, Nahás Pires Corrêa MS, Haddad AE, Bönecker M. Risk indicators for erosive tooth wear in Brazilian preschool children. Caries Res 2011;45:121-9.
- Huew R, Waterhouse P, Moynihan P, Kometa S, Maguire A. Dental caries and its association with diet and dental erosion in Libyan schoolchildren. Int J Paediatr Dent 2012;22:68-76.
- 64. Aguiar YP, dos Santos FG, Moura EF, da Costa FC, Auad SM, de Paiva SM, Cavalcanti AL. Association between dental erosion and diet in Brazilian adolescents aged from 15 to 19: a population-based study. Scientific World J 2014;2014:818167.
- Søvik JB, Tveit AB, Storesund T, Mulic A. Dental erosion: a widespread condition nowadays? A cross-sectional study among a group of adolescents in Norway. Acta Odontol Scand 2014;72:523-9.

- 66. Dixon B, Sharif MO, Ahmed F, Smith AB, Seymour D, Brunton PA. Evaluation of the basic erosive wear examination (BEWE) for use in general dental practice. Br Dent J 2012;213:E4.
- 67. De Carvalho Sales-Peres SH, De Carvalho Sales-Peres A, Marsicano JA, De Moura-Grec PG, De Carvalho CA, De Freitas AR, Sales-Peres A. An epidemiological scoring system for tooth wear and dental erosive wear. Int Dent J 2013;63:154-60.
- Milosevic A. The problem with an epidemiological index for dental erosion. Br Dent J 2011;211:201-3.
- 69. Luo Y, Zeng XJ, Du MQ, Bedi R. The prevalence of dental erosion in preschool children in China. J Dent 2005;33:115-21.
- El Aidi H, Bronkhorst EM, Huysmans MC, Truin GJ. Dynamics of tooth erosion in adolescents: a 3-year longitudinal study. J Dent 2010;38:131-7.
- Larsen MJ, Poulsen S, Hansen I. Erosion of the teeth: prevalence and distribution in a group of Danish school children. Eur J Paediatr Dent 2005;6:44-7.
- Isaksson H, Birkhed D, Wendt LK, Alm A, Nilsson M, Koch G. Prevalence of dental erosion and association with lifestyle factors in Swedish 20-year olds. Acta Odontol Scand 2014;72:448-57.
- Al-Dlaigan YH, Shaw L, Smith A. Dental erosion in a group of British 14-yearold, school children. Part I: Prevalence and influence of differing socioeconomic backgrounds. Br Dent J 2001;190:145-9.
- 74. Bardolia P, Burnside G, Ashcroft A, Milosevic A, Goodfellow SA, Rolfe EA, Pine CM. Prevalence and risk indicators of erosion in thirteen- to fourteen-yearolds on the Isle of Man. Caries Res 2010;44:165-8.

- Mulic A, Tveit AB, Skaare AB. Prevalence and severity of dental erosive wear among a group of Norwegian 18-year-olds. Acta Odontol Scand 2013;71:475-81.
- Caglar E, Kargul B, Tanboga I, Lussi A. Dental erosion among children in an Istanbul public school. J Dent Child (Chic) 2005;72:5-9.
- Zhang S, Chau AM, Lo EC, Chu CH. Dental caries and erosion status of 12year-old Hong Kong children. BMC Public Health 2014;14:7.
- Muller-Bolla M, Courson F, Smail-Faugeron V, Bernardin T, Lupi-Pégurier L. Dental erosion in French adolescents. BMC Oral Health 2015;15:147.
- Al-Ashtal A, Johansson A, Omar R, Johansson AK. Dental erosion in groups of Yemeni children and adolescents and the modification of an erosion partial recording system. Int J Paediatr Dent 2017;27:283-92.
- Vakil N, van Zanten SV, Kahrilas P, Dent J, Jones R; Global Consensus Group. The Montreal definition and classification of gastroesophageal reflux disease: a global evidence-based consensus. Am J Gastroenterol 2006;101:1900-20; quiz 1943.
- Bartlett DW, Coward PY. Comparison of the erosive potential of gastric juice and a carbonated drink in vitro. J Oral Rehabil 2001;28:1045-7.
- Moazzez R, Bartlett D. Intrinsic causes of erosion. Monogr Oral Sci 2014;25:180-96.
- Carvalho TS, Lussi A, Jaeggi T, Gambon DL. Erosive tooth wear in children. Monogr Oral Sci 2014;25:262-78.
- Nahás Pires Corrêa MS, Nahás Pires Corrêa F, Nahás Pires Corrêa JP, Murakami C, Mendes FM. Prevalence and associated factors of dental erosion

in children and adolescents of a private dental practice. Int J Paediatr Dent 2011;21:451-8.

- Milosevic A, Bardsley PF, Taylor S. Epidemiological studies of tooth wear and dental erosion in 14-year old children in North West England. Part 2: The association of diet and habits. Br Dent J 2004;197:479-83.
- Mulic A, Skudutyte-Rysstad R, Tveit AB, Skaare AB. Risk indicators for dental erosive wear among 18-yr-old subjects in Oslo, Norway. Eur J Oral Sci 2012;120:531-8.
- Holbrook WP, Furuholm J, Gudmundsson K, Theodórs A, Meurman JH. Gastric reflux is a significant causative factor of tooth erosion. J Dent Res 2009;88:422-6.
- Bartlett DW, Lussi A, West NX, Bouchard P, Sanz M, Bourgeois D. Prevalence of tooth wear on buccal and lingual surfaces and possible risk factors in young European adults. J Dent 2013;11:1007-13.
- O'Sullivan EA, Curzon ME, Roberts GJ, Milla PJ, Stringer MD. Gastroesophageal reflux in children and its relationship to erosion of primary and permanent teeth. Eur J Oral Sci 1998;106:765-9.
- Wild YK, Heyman MB, Vittinghoff E, Dalal DH, Wojcicki JM, Clark AL, Rechmann B, Rechmann P. Gastroesophageal reflux is not associated with dental erosion in children. Gastroenterology 2011;141:1605-11.
- Jensdottir T, Arnadottir IB, Thorsdottir I, Bardow A, Gudmundsson K, Theodors A, Holbrook WP. Relationship between dental erosion, soft drink consumption, and gastroesophageal reflux among Icelanders. Clin Oral Investig 2004;8:91-6.

- Pace F, Pallotta S, Tonini M, Vakil N, Bianchi Porro G. Systematic review: gastro-oesophageal reflux disease and dental lesions. Aliment Pharmacol Ther 2008;27:1179-86.
- Ranjitkar S, Kaidonis JA, Smales RJ. Gastroesophageal reflux disease and tooth erosion. Int J Dent 2012;2012:479850.
- 94. Smink FR, van Hoeken D, Hoek HW. Epidemiology, course, and outcome of eating disorders. Curr Opin Psychiatry 2013;26:543-8.
- Ohrn R, Enzell K, Angmar-Månsson B. Oral status of 81 subjects with eating disorders. Eur J Oral Sci 1999;107:157-63.
- 96. Johansson AK, Norring C, Unell L, Johansson A. Eating disorders and oral health: a matched case-control study. Eur J Oral Sci 2012;120:61-8.
- 97. https://global.britannica.com/topic/soft-drink
- O'Sullivan EA, Curzon ME. A comparison of acidic dietary factors in children with and without dental erosion. ASDC J Dent Child 2000;67:186-92,160.
- Harding MA, Whelton H, O'Mullane DM, Cronin M. Dental erosion in 5-yearold Irish school children and associated factors: A pilot study. Community Dent Health 2003;20:165-70.
- Dugmore CR, Rock WP. A multifactorial analysis of factors associated with dental erosion. Br Dent J 2004;196:283-6.
- 101. Johansson AK, Lingström P, Birkhed D. Comparison of factors potentially related to the occurrence of dental erosion in high- and low erosion groups. Eur J Oral Sci 2002;110:204-11.
- El Karim IA, Sanhouri NM, Hashim NT, Ziada HM. Dental erosion among 12-14 year old school children in Khartoum: a pilot study. Community Dent Health 2007;24:176-80.

- 103. Margaritis V, Mamai-Homata E, Koletsi-Kounari H. Novel methods of balancing covariates for the assessment of dental erosion: a contribution to validation of a synthetic scoring system for erosive wear. J Dent 2011;39:361-7.
- Li H, Zou Y, Ding G. Dietary factors associated with dental erosion: a metaanalysis. PLoS One 2012;7:e42626.
- 105. Kumar S, Acharya S, Mishra P, Debnath N, Vasthare R. Prevalence and risk factors for dental erosion among 11- to 14-year-old school children in South India. J Oral Sci 2013;55:329-36.
- 106. Hamasha AA, Zawaideh FI, Al-Hadithy RT. Risk indicators associated with dental erosion among Jordanian school children aged 12-14 years of age. Int J Paediatr Dent 2014;24:56-68.
- 107. Søvik JB, Skudutyte-Rysstad R, Tveit AB, Sandvik L, Mulic A. Sour sweets and acidic beverage consumption are risk indicators for dental erosion. Caries Res 2015;49:243-50.
- 108. Wiegand A, Müller J, Werner C, Attin T. Prevalence of erosive tooth wear and associated risk factors in 2-7-year-old German kindergarten children. Oral Dis 2006;12:117-24.
- 109. Davies R, Hunter L, Loyn T, Rees J. Sour sweets: a new type of erosive challenge? Br Dent J 2008;204:E3; discussion 84-5.
- Lussi A, Megert B, Shellis RP, Wang X. Analysis of the erosive effect of different dietary substances and medications. Br J Nutr 2012;107:252-62.
- 111. Ganss C, Schlechtriemen M, Klimek J. Dental erosions in subjects living on a raw food diet. Caries Res 1999;33:74-80.
- 112. Johansson AK, Johansson A, Stan V, Ohlson CG. Silicone sealers, acetic acid vapours and dental erosion: a work-related risk? Swed Dent J 2005;29:61-9.

- 113. Wiegand A, Attin T. Occupational dental erosion from exposure to acids: a review. Occup Med (Lond) 2007;57:169-76.
- Mulic A, Tveit AB, Hove LH, Skaare AB. Dental erosive wear among Norwegian wine tasters. Acta Odontol Scand 2011;69:21-6.
- 115. Hemingway CA, Parker DM, Addy M, Barbour ME. Erosion of enamel by noncarbonated soft drinks with and without toothbrushing abrasion. Br Dent J 2006;201;447-50.
- 116. Voronets J, Lussi A. Thickness of softened human enamel removed by toothbrush abrasion: an in vitro study. Clin Oral Investig 2010;14:251-6.
- 117. Addy M. Tooth brushing, tooth wear and dentine hypersensitivity-are they associated? Int Dent J 2005;55(4 Suppl 1):261-7.
- Wiegand A, Schlueter N. The role of oral hygiene: does toothbrushing harm? Monogr Oral Sci 2014;25:215-9.
- Magalhaes AC, Wiegand A, Buzalaf MA. Use of dentifrices to prevent erosive tooth wear: harmful or helpful? Braz Oral Res 2014;28 Spec:1-6.
- 120. Attin T, Siegel S, Buchalla W, Lennon AM, Hannig C, Becker K. Brushing abrasion of softened and remineralised dentin: an in situ study. Caries Res 2004;38:62-6.
- 121. Lussi A, Lussi J, Carvalho TS, Cvikl B. Toothbrushing after an erosive attack: will waiting avoid tooth wear? Eur J Oral Sci 2014;122:353-9.
- 122. Moazzez R, Smith BG, Bartlett DW. Oral pH and drinking habit during ingestion of a carbonated drink in a group of adolescents with dental erosion. J Dent 2000;28:395-7.

- Johansson AK, Lingström P, Imfeld T, Birkhed D. Influence of drinking method on tooth- surface pH in relation to dental erosion. Eur J Oral Sci 2004;112:484-9.
- Young WG, Khan F. Sites of dental erosion are saliva-dependent. J Oral Rehabil 2002;29:35-43.
- Hara AT, Zero DT. The potential of saliva in protecting against dental erosion. Monogr Oral Sci 2014;25:197-205.
- 126. Piangprach T, Hengtrakool C, Kukiattrakoon B, Kedjarune-Leggat U. The effect of salivary factors on dental erosion in various age groups and tooth surfaces. J Am Dent Assoc 2009;140:1137-43.
- 127. Corrêa MC, Lerco MM, Cunha Mde L, Henry MA. Salivary parameters and teeth erosions in patients with gastroesophageal reflux disease. Arq Gastroenterol 2012;49:214-8.
- 128. Lussi A, von Salis-Marincek M, Ganss C, Hellwig E, Cheaib Z, Jaeggi T. Clinical study monitoring the pH on tooth surfaces in patients with and without erosion. Caries Res 2012;46:507-12.
- 129. Attin T, Meyer K, Hellwig E, Buchalla W, Lennon AM. Effect of mineral supplements to citric acid on enamel erosion. Arch Oral Biol 2003;48:753-9.
- 130. Jensdottir T, Bardow A, Holbrook P. Properties and modification of soft drinks in relation to their erosive potential in vitro. J Dent 2005;33:569-75.
- Kargul B, Caglar E, Lussi A. Erosive and buffering capacities of yoghurt. Quintessence Int 2007;38:381-5.
- 132. Hara AT, Zero DT. Analysis of the erosive potential of calcium-containing acidic beverages. Eur J Oral Dent 2008;116:60-5.

- 133. Søvik JB, Vieira AR, Tveit AB, Mulic A. Enamel formation genes associated with dental erosive wear. Caries Res. 2015;49:236-42.
- 134. Uhlen MM, Stenhagen KR, Dizak PM, Holme B, Mulic A, Tveit AB, Vieira AR. Genetic variation may explain why females are less susceptible to dental erosion. Eur J Oral Sci. 2016;124:426-32.
- 135. The American Heritage® Science Dictionary. http://www.dictionary.com/browse/lifestyle
- Lasater G, Piernas C, Popkin BM. Beverage patterns and trends among schoolaged children in the US, 1989-2008. Nutr J 2011;10:103.
- 137. Rampersaud GC, Bailey LB, Kauwell GP. National survey beverage consumption data for children and adolescents indicate the need to encourage a shift toward more nutritive beverages. J Am Diet Assoc 2003;103:97-100.
- Garriguet D. Beverage consumption of children and teens. Health Rep 2008;19:17-22.
- 139. Union of European soft drinks Associations (UNESDA). Retrieved Feb 2017 at http://www.unesda.eu/products-ingredients/consumption/
- Arnadottir IB, Saemundsson SR, Holbrook WP. Dental erosion in Icelandic teenagers in relation to dietary and lifestyle factors. Acta Odontol Scand 2003;61:25-8.
- National Food Agency. Riksmaten barn 2003. Livsmedels- och näringsintag bland barn i Sverige. Livsmedelsverket 2006. ISBN 9177141776.
- 142. Board of agriculture. Jordbruksstatistisk sammanställning 2016, med data om livsmedel – tabeller.
   <u>http://www2.jordbruksverket.se/download/18.40bf03f155b59eb32ed8860/1467</u> <u>814436106/JO02BR1601.pdf</u>

- 143. French SA, Lin BH, Guthrie JF. National trends in soft drink consumption among children and adolescents age 6 to 17 years: Prevalence, amounts, and sources, 1977/1978 to 1994/1998. J Am Diet Assoc 2003;103:1326-31.
- 144. St- Onge MP, Keller KL. Heymsfield SB. Changes in childhood food consumption patterns: a cause for concern in light of increasing body weights. Am J Clin Nutr 2003;78:1068-73.
- 145. Grimm GC, Harnack L, Story M. Factors associated with soft drink consumption in school-aged children. J Am Diet Assoc 2004;104:1244-9.
- 146. Hugoson A, Koch G, Göthberg C, Helkimo AN, Lundin SA, Norderyd O, Sjödin B, Sondell K. Oral health of individuals aged 3-80 years in Jönköping, Sweden during 30 years (1973-2003). I. Review of findings on dental care habits and knowledge of oral health. Swed Dent J 2005;29:125-38.
- 147. Vereecken CA, Inchley J, Subramanian SV, Hublet A, Maes L. The relative influence of individual and contextual socio-economic status on consumption of fruit and soft drinks among adolescents in Europe. Eur J Public Health 2005;15:224-32.
- 148. De Bruijn GJ, Kremers SP, de Vries H, van Mechelen W, Brug J. Associations of social-environmental and individual-level factors with adolescent soft drink consumption: results from the SMILE study. Health Educ Res 2007;22:227-37.
- Bere E, Sorli Glomnes ES, te Velde SJ, Klepp KI. Determinants of adolescents' soft drink consumption. Public Health Nutr 2008;1:49-56.
- 150. Verzeletti C, Maes L, Santinello M, Vereecken CA. Soft drink consumption in adolescence: associations with food-related lifestyles and family rules in Belgium Flanders and the Veneto Region of Italy. Eur J Public Health 2010;20:312-7.

- 151. Naska A, Bountziouka V, Trichopoulou A, Dafne Participants. Soft drinks: time trends and correlates in twenty-four European countries. A cross-national study using the DAFNE (Data Food Networking) databank. Public Health Nutr 2010;13:1346-55.
- 152. Gambon DL, Brand HS, Boutkabout C, Levie D, Veerman EC. Patterns in consumption of potentially erosive beverages among adolescent school children in the Netherlands. Int Dent J 2011;61:247-51.
- 153. Park S, Sherry B, Foti K, Blanck HM. Self-reported academic grades and other correlates of sugar-sweetened soda intake among US adolescents. J Acad Nutr Diet 2012;112:125-31.
- 154. Duffey KJ, Huybrechts I, Mouratidou T, Libuda L, Kersting M, De Vriendt T, Gottrand F, Widhalm K, Dallongeville J, Hallström L, González-Gross M, De Henauw S, Moreno LA, Popkin BM; HELENA Study group. Beverage consumption among European adolescents in the HELENA study. Eur J Clin Nutr 2012;66:244-52.
- 155. Monteiro LS, Vasconcelos TM1, Veiga GV, Pereira RA. Changes in beverage consumption among adolescents from public schools in the first decade of the century XXI. Rev Bras Epidemiol 2016;19:348-61.
- 156. Stea TH, Øverby NC, Klepp KI, Bere E. Changes in beverage consumption in Norwegian children from 2001 to 2008. Public Health Nutr 2012;15:379-85.
- 157. Slining MM, Popkin BM. Trends in intakes and sources of solid fats and added sugars among U.S. children and adolescents: 1994-2010. Pediatr Obes 2013;8:307-24.
- 158. Fismen AS, Smith OR, Torsheim T, Samdal O. A school based study of time trends in food habits and their relation to socio-economic status among Norwegian adolescents, 2001-2009. Int J Behav Nutr Phys Act 2014;11:115.

- 159. Ford CN, Ng SW, Popkin BM. Ten-year beverage intake trends among US preschool children: rapid declines between 2003 and 2010 but stagnancy in recent years. Pediatr Obes 2016;11:47-53.
- Marshall TA, Levy SM, Broffitt B, Warren JJ, Eichenberger-Gilmore JM, Burns TL, Stumbo PJ. Dental caries and beverage consumption in young children. Pediatrics 2003;112;e184-e91.
- Llena C, Forner L. Dietary habits in a child population in relation to caries experience. Caries Res 2008;42:387-93.
- 162. Burt BA, Kolker JL, Sandretto AM, Yuan Y, Sohn W, Ismail AI. Dietary patterns related to caries in a low-income adult population. Caries Res 2006;40:473-80.
- Forshee RA, Storey ML. Evaluation of the association of demographics and beverage consumption with dental caries. Food Chem Toxicol 2004;42:1805-16.
- 164. Auad SM, Waterhouse PJ, Nunn JH, Moynihan PJ. Dental caries and its association with sociodemographics, erosion and diet in schoolchildren from Southeast Brazil. Pediatr Dent 2009;31:229-35.
- 165. Forshee RA, Anderson PA, Storey ML. The role of beverage consumption, physical activity, sedentary behavior, and demographics on body mass index of adolescents. Int J Food Sci Nutr 2004;55.463-78.
- 166. Kvaavik E, Andersen LF, Klepp KI. The stability of soft drinks intake from adolescence to adult age and the association between long-term consumption of soft drinks and lifestyle factors and body weight. Public Health Nutr 2005;8:149-57.
- 167. Forshee RA, Anderson PA, Storey ML. Sugar-sweetened beverages and body mass index in children and adolescents: a meta-analysis. Am J Clin Nutr 2008;87:1662-71.

- 168. Laurson K, Eisenmann JC, Moore S. Lack of association between television viewing, soft drinks, physical activity and body mass index in children. Acta Paediatr 2008;97:795-800.
- Vågstrand K, Linné Y, Karlsson J, Elfhag K, Lindroos AK. Correlates of soft drink and fruit juice consumption among Swedish adolescents. Br J Nutr 2009;101:1541-8.
- Ludwig DS, Peterson KE, Gortmaker SL. Relation between consumption of sugar-sweetened drinks and childhood obesity: a prospective, observational analysis. Lancet 2001;357:505-8.
- 171. Giammattei J, Blix G, Marshak HH, Wollitzer AO, Pettitt DJ. Television watching and soft drink consumption: associations with obesity in 11- to 13year-old schoolchildren. Arch Pediatr Adolesc Med 2003;157:882-6.
- 172. Berkey CS, Rockett HR, Field AE, Gillman MW, Colditz GA. Sugar-added beverages and adolescent weight change. Obes Res 2004;12:778-88.
- 173. Malik VS, Schulze MB, Hu FB. Intake of sugar-sweetened beverages and weight gain: a systematic review. Am J Clin Nutr 2006;84:274-88.
- 174. Dubois L, Farmer A, Girard M, Peterson K. Regular sugar-sweetened beverage consumption between meals increases risk of overweight among preschool-aged children. J Am Diet Assoc 2007;107:924-34.
- 175. Vartanian LR, Schwartz MB, Brownell KD. Effects of soft drink consumption on nutrition and health: A systematic review and meta-analysis. Am J Public Health 2007;97:667-75.
- 176. Liang T, Kuhle S, Veugelers PJ. Nutrition and body weights of Canadian children watching television and eating while watching television. Public Health Nutr 2009;12:2457-63.

- 177. Nissinen K, Mikkilä V, Männistö S, Lahti-Koski M, Räsänen L, Viikari J, Raitakari OT. Sweets and sugar-sweetened soft drink intake in childhood in relation to adult BMI and overweight. The Cardiovascular Risk in Young Finns Study. Public Health Nutr 2009;12:2018-26.
- 178. Martin-Calvo N, Martínez-González MA, Bes-Rastrollo M, Gea A, Ochoa MC, Marti A; GENOI Members. Sugar-sweetened carbonated beverage consumption and childhood/adolescent obesity: a case-control study. Public Health Nutr 2014;17:2185-93.
- 179. Greenwood DC, Threapleton DE, Evans CE, Cleghorn CL, Nykjaer C, Woodhead C, Burley VJ. Association between sugar-sweetened and artificially sweetened soft drinks and type 2 diabetes: systematic review and dose-response meta-analysis of prospective studies. Br J Nutr 2014;112:725-34.
- Larsson SC, Akesson A, Wolk A. Sweetened beverage consumption is associated with increased risk of stroke in women and men. J Nutr 2014;144:856-60.
- 181. Chun S, Choi Y, Chang Y, Cho J, Zhang Y, Rampal S, Zhao D, Ahn J, Suh BS, Pastor-Barriuso R, Lima JA, Chung EC, Shin H, Guallar E, Ryu S. Sugarsweetened carbonated beverage consumption and coronary artery calcification in asymptomatic men and women. Am Heart J 2016;177:17-24.
- Al-Dlaigan YH, Shaw L, Smith A. Dental erosion in a group of British 14-yearold school children Part II: Influence of dietary intake. Br Dent J 2001;190:258-61.
- Denney-Wilson E, Crawford D, Dobbins T, Hardy L, Okely AD. Influences on consumption of soft drinks and fast foods in adolescents. Asia Pac J Clin Nutr 2009;18:447-52.

- 184. Haug E, Rasmussen M, Samdal O, Iannotti R, Kelly C, Borraccino A, Vereecken C, Melkevik O, Lazzeri G, Giacchi M, Ercan O, Due P, Ravens-Sieberer U, Currie C, Morgan A, Ahluwalia N; HBSC Obesity Writing Group. Overweight in school-aged children and its relationship with demographic and lifestyle factors: results from the WHO-Collaborative Health Behaviour in School-aged Children (HBSC) Study. Int J Public Health 2009;54:167-79.
- 185. Vereecken CA, Todd J, Roberts C, Mulvihill C, Maes L. Television viewing behaviour and associations with food habits in different countries. Public Health Nutr 2006;9:244-50.
- 186. Kremers S, van der Horst K, Brug J. Adolescent screen-viewing behaviour is associated with consumption of sugar-sweetened beverages: The role of habit strength and perceived parental norms. Appetite 2007;48:345-50.
- 187. Haerens L, Craeynest M, Deforche B, Maes L, Cardon G, De Bourdeaudhuij I. The contribution of psychosocial and home environmental factors in explaining eating behaviours in adolescents. Eur J Clin Nutr 2008;62:51-9.
- 188. Rey-López JP, Vicente-Rodríguez G, Répásy J, Mesana MI, Ruiz JR, Ortega FB, Kafatos A, Huybrechts I, Cuenca-García M, León JF, González-Gross M, Sjöström M, de Bourdeaudhuij I, Moreno LA. Food drink intake during television viewing in adolescents: the Healthy Lifestyle in Europe by Nutrition in Adolescence (HELENA) study. Public Health Nutr 2011;14:1563-9.
- 189. Santaliestra-Pasías AM, Mouratidou T, Verbestel V, Huybrechts I, Gottrand F, Le Donne C, Cuenca-García M, Díaz LE, Kafatos A, Manios Y, Molnar D, Sjöström M, Widhalm K, De Bourdeaudhuij I, Moreno LA; Healthy Lifestyle in Europe by Nutrition in Adolescence Cross-sectional Study Group. Food consumption and screen-based sedentary behaviors in European adolescents: the HELENA study. Arch Pediatr Adolesc Med 2012;166:1010-20.

- 190. Olafsdottir S, Berg C, Eiben G, Lanfer A, Reisch L, Ahrens W, Kourides Y, Molnár D, Moreno LA, Siani A, Veidebaum T, Lissner L. Young children's screen activities, sweet drink consumption and anthropometry: results from a prospective European study. Eur J Clin Nutr 2014;68:223-8.
- Cochrane NJ, Yuan Y, Walker GD, Shen P, Chang CH, Reynolds C, Reynolds EC. Erosive potential of sports beverages. Aust Dent J 2012;57:359-64.
- 192. Mulic A, Tveit AB, Songe D, Sivertsen H, Skaare AB. Dental erosive wear and salivary flow rate in physically active young adults. BMC Oral Health 2012;12:8.
- 193. Ainamo J, Bay I. Problems and proposals for recording gingivitis and plaque. Int Dent J 1975;25:229-35.
- 194. Downer MC. The 1993 national survey of children's dental health. Br Dent J 1995;178:407-12.
- 195. Nunn JH, Gordon PH, Morris AJ, Pine CM, Walker A. Dental erosion changing prevalence? A review of British National childrens' surveys. Int J Paediatr Dent 2003;13:98-105.
- 196. Galea S, Tracy M. Participation rates in epidemiologic studies. Ann Epidemiol 2007;17:643-53.
- 197. Journal of the American Medical Association: JAMA instructions for authors [http://jama.jamanetwork.com/public/instructionsForAuthors.aspx#GeneralInfor mation]
- 198. Wetselaar P, Lobbezoo F, Koutris M, Visscher CM, Naeije M. Reliability of an occlusal and nonocclusal tooth wear grading system: clinical use versus dental cast assessment. Int J Prosthodont 2009;22:388-90.

- 199. Hänsel Petersson G, Åkerman S, Isberg PE, Ericson D. Comparison of risk assessment based on clinical judgement and Cariogram in addition to patient perceived treatment need. BMC Oral Health 2016;17:13.
- 200. Amin WM, Al-Omoush SA, Hattab FN. Oral health status of workers exposed to acid fumes in phosphate and battery industries in Jordan. Int Dent J 2001;51:169-74.
- 201. Norderyd O, Kochi G, Papias A, Köhler AA, Helkimo AN, Brahm CO, Lindmark U, Lindfors N, Mattsson A, Rolander B, Ullbro C, Gerdin EW, Frisk F. Oral health of individuals aged 3-80 years in Jönköping, Sweden, during 40 years (1973-2013). I. Review of findings on oral care habits and knowledge of oral health. Swed Dent J 2015;39:57-68.
- 202. El Aidi H, Bronkhorst EM, Huysmans M, Truin GJ. Factors associated with the incidence of erosive wear in upper incisors and lower first molars: a multifactorial approach. J Dent 2011;39:558-63.
- 203. Kassem NO, Lee JW, Modeste NN, Johnston PK. Understanding soft drink consumption among female adolescents using the Theory of Planned Behavior. Health Educ Res 2003;18:278-91.
- 204. Hebden L, Hector D, Hardy LL, King L. A fizzy environment: availability and consumption of sugar-sweetened beverages among school students. Prev Med 2013;56:416-8.
- 205. Forshee RA, Storey ML. Total beverage consumption and beverage choices among children and adolescents. Int J Food Sci Nutr 2003;54:297-307.
- 206. Shomaker LB, Tanofsky-Kraff M, Savastano DM, Kozlosky M, Columbo KM, Wolkoff LE, Zocca JM, Brady SM, Yanovski SZ, Crocker MK, Ali A, Yanovski JA . Puberty and observed energy intake: boy, can they eat! Am J Clin Nutr 2010;92:123-9.

- 207. Sartor F, Donaldson LF, Markland DA, Loveday H, Jackson MJ, Kubis HP. Taste perception and implicit attitude toward sweet related to body mass index and soft drink supplementation. Appetite 2011;57:237-46.
- 208. Alhabeeb MJ. Teenagers' money, discretionary spending and saving. JFCP 1996;7:123-32.
- 209. Kooreman P. Time, money, peers, and parents; some data and theories on teenage behavior. J Popul Econ 2007;20:9–33.
- Johansson A, Johansson AK, Omar R, Carlsson GE. Rehabilitation of the worn dentition. J Oral Rehabil 2008;35:548-66.
- 211. Jonsgar C, Hordvik PA, Berge ME, Johansson AK, Svensson P, Johansson A. Sleep bruxism in individuals with and without attrition-type tooth wear: An exploratory matched case-control electromyographic study. J Dent 2015;43:1504-10.
- James J, Thomas P, Cavan D, Kerr D. Preventing childhood obesity by reducing consumption of carbonated drinks: cluster randomised controlled trial. BMJ 2004;328(7450):1237.
- 213. Laurence S, Peterken R, Burns C. Fresh Kids: the efficacy of a Health Promoting Schools approach to increasing consumption of fruit and water in Australia. Health Promot Int 2007;22:218-26.
- 214. Cunha DB, de Souza Bda S, Pereira RA, Sichieri R. Effectiveness of a randomized school-based intervention involving families and teachers to prevent excessive weight gain among adolescents in Brazil. PLoS One 2013;8:e57498.
- 215. Tipton JA. Reducing Sugar-Sweetened Beverage Intake Among Students: School-Based Programs and Policies That Work. NASN Sch Nurse 2016 ;31:102-10.

- Rölla G, Jonski G, Saxegaard E. On inhibition of dental erosion. Acta Odontol Scand 2013;71:1508-12.
- 217. Stenhagen KR, Hove LH, Holme B, Tveit AB. The effect of daily fluoride mouth rinsing on enamel erosive/abrasive wear in situ. Caries Res 2013;47:2-8.
- 218. Huysmans MC, Young A, Ganss C. The role of fluoride in erosion therapy. Monogr Oral Sci 2014;25:230-43.
- 219. Lussi A, Carvalho TS. The future of fluorides and other protective agents in erosion prevention. Caries Res 2015;49 Suppl 1:18-29.
- 220. Buzalaf MA, Magalhães AC, Wiegand A. Alternatives to fluoride in the prevention and treatment of dental erosion. Monogr Oral Sci 2014;25:244-52.

## Appendix 1. Written questionnaire

### (First part of the questionnaire), (Paper III)

Var vänlig och svara på alla frågor!

stän	ga in det alternativ som nmer bäst n små mängder ska räknas	Sällan eller aldrig	En till flera gånger i månaden	En gång i veckan		Varje dag	Flera gånger varje dag
Hu	r ofta äter du:						
1.	Godis	1	2	3	4	5	6
2.	Sura godisar	1	2	3	4	5	6
3.	Isglass	1	2	3	4	5	6
4.	Glass	1	2	3	4	5	6
5.	Chips/ostbågar	1	2	3	4	5	6
6.	Kakor, bullar	1	2	3	4	5	6
7.	Kex	1	2	3	4	5	6
8.	Ost	1	2	3	4	5	6
9.	Färsk frukt	1	2	3	4	5	6
10.	Torkad frukt (russin m.m.)	1	2	3	4	5	6
11.	Tuggar tuggummi	1	2	3	4	5	6

Ringa in det alternativ som stämmer bäst Även små mängder ska räknas	Sällan eller aldrig	En till flera gånger i månade n	En gång i veckan	Två till flera gånger i veckan	Varje dag	Flera gånger varje dag
Hur ofta dricker du:						
12. Vatten	1	2	3	4	5	6
13. Cola (alla sorter)	1	2	3	4	5	6
14. Cola light (alla sorter)	1	2	3	4	5	6

15. Annan läsk/dricka (utom Cola)	1	2	3	4	5	6
<ol> <li>Annan läskdricka light (utom Cola)</li> </ol>	1	2	3	4	5	6
17. Saft	1	2	3	4	5	6
18. Saft light	1	2	3	4	5	6
19. Andra fruktdrycker (måltidsdryck, nektar m.m.)	1	2	3	4	5	6
20. Juice	1	2	3	4	5	6
21. Te med socker	1	2	3	4	5	6
22. Te utan socker	1	2	3	4	5	6
23. Kaffe med socker	1	2	3	4	5	6
24. Kaffe utan socker	1	2	3	4	5	6
25. Mjölk	1	2	3	4	5	6
<ol> <li>Oboy eller annan mjölkdryck</li> </ol>	1	2	3	4	5	6
27. Fil	1	2	3	4	5	6
28. Yoghurt	1	2	3	4	5	6

<b>Hur ofta:</b> Kryssa det alternativ som stämmer bäst	Sällan eller Aldrig	En till flera gånger i månaden	En till flera gånger per vecka	Varje dag	Varje dag, morgon och kväll
29. borstar du dina tänder	1	2	3	4	5

<b>Var dricker du läsk/dricka:</b> Kryssa det alternativ som stämmer bäst	Hemma	I skolan	från gång	På annan plats (inte hemma eller i skolan)	Dricker inte läsk
30. Var dricker du läsk/dricka/Cola	1	2	3	4	5

<b>Hur dricker du:</b> Kryssa det alternativ som stämmer bäst	Sväljer direkt	Håller drycken i munnen och sväljer efter ett tag	
31. Vatten			
32. Kolsyrad läsk/dricka/Cola			

Kryssa det alternativ som stämmer bäst	Håller inte drycken i munnen	Vet inte	Känner på smaken	Har svårt att svälja	Annat
33. Om du håller vattnet i munnen innan du sväljer,					
varför gör du det					
34. Om du håller kolsyrad					
dryck i munnen innan du					
sväljer, varför gör du det					

<b>Brukar du ofta:</b> Ringa in det alternativ som stämmer bäst	Sällan eller Aldrig	En till flera gånger per månad	En till flera gånger per vecka	Varje dag	Varje dag, flera gånger	Alltid
35. Vara torr i munnen på dagen	1	2	3	4	5	6
36. Vara torr i munnen på natten	1	2	3	4	5	6
37. Ha ilningar i dina tänder	1	2	3	4	5	6
<b>38.</b> Ha värk från dina tänder	1	2	3	4	5	6
<b>39.</b> Ha ont i magen	1	2	3	4	5	6
<b>40.</b> Ha sura uppstötningar	1	2	3	4	5	6
41. Kräkas	1	2	3	4	5	6

			45. Äter du mediciner	
Ja 🗆 Nej 🗆				

46. Vad tycker du om din kropp Kryssa ett alternativ som stämmer bäst	Alltför tjock	Lite för tjock	Lagom	Lite för smal	Alltför smal
47. Upplever du dig som					
48. Tror du andra upplever dig					
som					

Vilket land är	Sverige	Norden	Europa (utom Norden)	Övriga
49. Du född i	1	2	3	4
50. Din mamma född i	1	2	3	4
51. Din pappa född i	1	2	3	4

Hur mycket brukar du idrotta på din fritid (utom skolidrott) Uppskatta ett medeltal för säsongsidrotter	Antal timmar per vecka	Antal gånger per vecka				
52. Träning						
53. Tävling/match						
54. Vilken idrott håller du på med						
mest						
55. Hur många gånger/vecka deltar du i skolidrott?						

	r många timmar per dag tittar du på TV mer /spelar TV-spel	0-1 tim	2-3 tim	4-5 tim	Mer än 5 tim
56.	På vardagar				
57.	På helger				

Hur många timmar sitter du framför datorn / spelar dataspel					
58.	På vardagar				
59.	På helger				

	61. Har du någon gång försökt gå upp i vikt		63. Hur lång är du
Ja 🗆 Nej 🗆	Ja 🗆 Nej 🗆	kg	centimeter

64. Vad gör du under dagarna (kan vara två alternativ)									
Hemma	Skola	Gymnasium	Jobbar	Arbetslös	65. Annat				

#### 66. Vilket tandkrämsmärke använder du oftast?

.....

Använder du regelbundet någon fluorprodukt förutom tandkräm? Ja Nej

67. Vilken typ i så f	all?	Fluortabletter	Fluortuggummi
Fluorsköljning	Anna	t	

68. Om du haft problem med magen/sura uppstötningar/kräkningar:

a) Hur länge har det pågått?.....månader

b) Hur ofta har du besvär?.....gånger/månad

c) Är du vegetarian? Ja Nej

# Appendix 2. Oral interview

(Second part of the questionnaire), (Paper I and II)

Hur mycket av dricker du i veckan av (senaste året):	Typ av dryck	Antal glas per dag	Antal burkar/flask or per dag	Antal milliliter per vecka
1. Colalläsk				
2. Annan läsk				
3. Juice				
4. Annan fruktdrink				
5. Sportdryck				
6. Mjölk				
7. Oboy/mjölkdryck				
Hur mycket har du tidigare (mer än ett år sedan) druckit/vecka av:	Typ av dryck	Antal glas per dag	Antal burkar/ flaskor per dag	Antal milliliter per vecka
8. Colalläsk				
9. Annan läsk				
10. Juice				

11.	Annan fruktdrink		
12.	Sportdryck		
13.	Mjölk		
14.	Oboy/mjölkdryck		

Hur många gånger i veckan äter du	15. Mjölk	16. Frukost	17. Skol- lunch	18. Midda g	<ol> <li>Mellan mål (även i skolan)</li> </ol>
	 gånger	gånger	gånger	gånger	gånger

Vad dricker du oftast:	Typ av dryck	Antal glas per dag	Antal burkar per dag	Antal milliliiter per vecka
20. Till frukost				
21. I skolan				
22. Till lunch i skolan				
23. Till lunch hemma				
24. Till middag				
25. Mellan måltiderna				

26.	Under träning/tävling										
27.	Kvällen innan du somnar										
28.	På natten										
29.	Använde(r) du nappflaska		Ja	🗆 Nej 🗆	-		Hur många a flaska	år ha	ar du anvä	nt åı	ſ
Vac	l dricker du ur		31.	🗆 Vällii	ng	32.	🗆 Mjölk	33.	🗆 Läsk	34	. 🗆 Juice
nappflaskan											
			35.	🗆 Saft		36.	🗆 Annat				

37. Anamnes tagen Ja Nej	38. Munanda	re Ja	Nej
	Dricker mest under helgen	Dricker mest under vanliga veckodagar	Dricker under både helg och vanliga veckodagar
39. När under veckan dricker du läsk och juice			

## Appendix 3. Oral interview (Paper III)

(Second part of the questionnaire), Paper III

Va	d dricker du oftast:		Typ av dr	yck/mängd/da	g	Antal milliliter per vecka
1.	Till frukost					
2.	På raster och håltimmar					
3.	Till lunch i skolan					
4.	Till lunch hemma					
5.	Till middag					
6.	Mellan måltiderna					
7.	Under träning/tävling					
8.	Kvällen innan du somnar					
9.	På natten					
vec	r många gånger i kan er/dricker du	10. Mjölk (ren)	11. Frukos t	12. Skol- lunch	13. Middag	<ul> <li>Förutom</li> <li>huvudmål</li> <li>en</li> <li>(även i</li> <li>skolan)</li> </ul>
		 gånger	 gånger	 gånger	 gånger	 gånger

Hur mycket av dricker du i veckan av (senaste året):	Typ av dryck/mängd/dag	Antal milliliter per vecka
15. Mjölk		
16. Oboy/mjölkdryck		
17. Juice		
18. Annan fruktdrink		
19. Sportdryck		
20. Colaläsk		
21. Annan läsk		
22. Alcopop		
23. Cider		
24. Öl		
25. Vin		
Hur mycket har du tidigare (mer än ett år sedan) druckit/vecka av:	Typ av dryck /mängd/dag	Antal milliliter per vecka
26. Mjölk		
27. Oboy/mjölkdryck		
28. Juice		
<b>29.</b> Annan fruktdrink		
30. Sportdryck		
30. Sportdryck		
30. Sportdryck     31. Colaläsk		
30. Sportdryck         31. Colaläsk         32. Annan läsk		
30. Sportdryck     31. Colaläsk     32. Annan läsk     33. Alcopop		

			Dricker	
	Dricker mest	Dricker mest på	under både	Aldria
	under helgen	vardagar	helg och	Aldrig
			vardag	
29. När under veckan dricker du				
läsk och juice				

<b>30.</b> Anamnes tagen Ja	Nej	<b>31.</b> Munandare Ja	Nej
<b>32.</b> Laktoskänslig Ja	Nej	<b>33</b> . Debut? (år)	
<ul><li>34. Andra magbesvär?</li><li>35. Debut? (år)</li></ul>			